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Thursday, November 17, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  In order to accommodate a special situation that has been brought to our attention, we will break today from 12:30 until 2:30.  We will continue until 4:30, but it is absolutely necessary for us to stand down at 4:30 this afternoon.


I think it is time to turn our attention to argument, whether it should be written or oral or a combination of the two.  To assist the parties in those deliberations, I would like to give you our availability for next week.  It is as follows.  Monday we can sit until 1 o'clock, no later.  Tuesday we can sit all day; Wednesday, only the afternoon starting at 1 o'clock; and same for Thursday, starting at 1 o'clock.  Friday is out of the question.  There is another hearing going on that involves members of this panel.


So with that, any other matters?


APPEARANCES:

MR. BROWN:  Mr. Chair, if I could enter an appearance.  Since you're talking about final argument, I may as well say that we're here.  David Brown for TransCanada Energy.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Brown.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I received a phone message yesterday indicating that IGUA will be waiting to make submissions, either written or oral, as the Panel decides, at the Panel's convenience next week. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Perhaps the parties can advise us by, say, tomorrow morning.  It will give the Panel an opportunity to think and reflect on those, by lunchtime or so, so we can provide some direction in the afternoon tomorrow.  Would that be acceptable?


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I might enter an appearance.  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.  Mr. Janigan was kind enough to hold my brief for the GEC portion of the case, and I am reciprocating and I will be holding brief with my client and Mr. Janigan's client for the Union portion of the case.


MR. VLAHOS:  Welcome, Mr. Warren.  There being no other matters, Mr. Cameron.


MR. CAMERON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Union is faced to be opening with its case with the first of the four Union panels.  This is the facilities design and economics panel.  Closest to you is Mr. Larry Hyatt, and beside him is Ms. Laura Callingham, and I would ask that these witnesses be sworn.


UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 1:

Laura Callingham; Sworn

Larry Hyatt; Sworn


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, proceed, please.


EXAMINATION BY MR. CAMERON:

MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Hyatt is the manager of system planning at Union Gas.  He was responsible for the modelling that resulted in the facilities design, including such matters as the selected pipeline diameter.


Mr. Hyatt, do you have with you the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?


MR. HYATT:  I do.


MR. CAMERON:  And so far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt that evidence and those interrogatory responses for which you are responsible as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. HYATT:  I do.


MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions that you would like to make to the evidence or the responses to interrogatories?


MR. HYATT:  No, I do not.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Ms. Callingham is the team leader, financial analysis at Union Gas.  She will speak to Union's evidence on economic feasibility of the applied for facilities. 


Ms. Callingham, do you have with you the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, I do.


MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses for which you are responsible as your evidence in this proceeding?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions that you would like to make to the evidence or the responses to interrogatories?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No, I do not.


MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, I have a brief direct examination of Mr. Hyatt, one on a point of fact that was raised during the GEC evidence and one to speak to an exhibit that was filed earlier by me.


First, with respect to the point of fact, Mr. Hyatt, you have heard the evidence of the GEC witnesses in this proceeding and reviewed their pre-filed evidence as it pertains to the delivery pressure required to operate their facility and, in particular, the minimum pressure of 550 psi at their plant gate.


Can you describe whether there is any doubt in your mind whether the facilities that you have designed and that are applied for by Union in this application could provide that delivery pressure, at a minimum, throughout all of the operating conditions of this plant?


MR. HYATT:  The 550-pound delivery pressure that we understand to be needed by GEC can be met by the facilities proposed by Union.  And, in fact, if there was a slightly higher pressure that was needed by GEC, we could probably accommodate that, as well.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  You have with you -- and, Mr. Chairman, parties might wish to fish out from their materials an exhibit that was prefiled in anticipation of Mr. Hyatt's appearance.  It's Exhibit 2.2, and it's the series of three schematic diagrams that pertain to the facilities applied for by Union.


Mr. Hyatt, could you explain, just briefly, what each of the schematics shows and why you thought they might be useful to the parties in understanding the two applications before the Board?


MR. HYATT:  Yes, I can.  We've seen a number of drawings or aerial photographs of the various pipeline routes, and people have tried to describe these.


So what we tried to do here is provide a schematic of the facilities in a more simplified fashion.  And the first drawing really shows, in the small dashed lines, the Vector and TransCanada facilities.  And just below that, in the middle of the page, we show Union's Courtright station and the facilities in that vicinity, which is the connection to the TCPL pipeline and Union's connection to the Vector pipeline.


Just below that box is a bold black line which shows Union's facilities for Sarnia industrial line, which goes to the right, and then up on the page going to the Sarnia area and to the Bluewater interconnection, and then down to -- back towards Dawn and to the St. Clair line.


Just below that box called "Union's Courtright station" is the existing facilities in the bold black line that go down to Terra, and the dashed line which is the proposed facilities to the GEC facility.


The second drawing, really a larger drawing that -- or larger area, that's really intended to show the interconnecting pipelines in the area.  I think it is fairly self-explanatory, but I can answer questions on anything that people may have on this.


The third drawing is really an attempt to show, in a more conceptual way, the difference between the way GEC is proposing to supply its project and the way that Union is proposing to supply the GEC facility.


We tried to do that in a very illustrative way so that it makes it much simpler to understand.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Mr. Hyatt.  And with that very brief direct examination, Mr. Chairman, the panel is now available for cross‑examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  Ms. Lea?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good morning.  I gather that to this panel I ask questions about design and technical issues, and also economic issues.  Is that correct?

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MR. HYATT:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  A couple, then, of technical issues.
     Could you confirm that all of the design specifications for this pipeline are in compliance with the CSA standard that's applicable?
     MR. HYATT:  I would really refer that technical part to Mr. Mallette on the second panel.
     MS. LEA:  Second panel, okay.  All right.  So I will just make a note of that.
     In Union's proposal, would you propose to have the ability to serve any other customers besides GEC from the pipeline that you're proposing to build?
     MR. HYATT:  We did look at that capability, the 12 inch that we're proposing to construct and it does have some additional capability on it.  It has capability of about let's call an additional 15,000 gJs a day that could be served, if there was additional development in that area.  That's probably equivalent to about 12,000 residential customers, or one major industrial account.
     MS. LEA:  Can you indicate whether you have any information that can help us assess the likelihood of whether another customer would appear along the route of the pipeline?
     MR. HYATT:  My understanding is that the zoning of that, the lands in that area are industrial.  But it's currently being farmed.  So at this point we don't have any indications -- I don't have any indications there are any additional developments in that area.
     MS. LEA:  Certainly the pipeline economics are based purely on the revenues from GEC.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  And GEC proposes to build a 16-inch pipe and you propose a 12-inch.  Can you speak to the reason why you believe a 12-inch is adequate?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes.  If we refer to Union's prefiled evidence, schedule number 2 with a proposed 12 inch, using the pressure from TransCanada or Vector of 4826 kPa, we would provide an inlet pressure down at the GEC location of 4461 kPa, or that's about 647 psi.
     MS. LEA:  Hmm-hmm.
     MR. HYATT:  And that would allow us adequate pressure to provide differential across the metering station to meet the delivery pressure of 550 psi, or 3792 kPa.
     MS. LEA:  Can you assist us as to your view as to why the two competing applications here use different sizes of pipe to accomplish the same task?
     MR. HYATT:  12 inch definitely works, in our view, to supply the customer.  16 inch will also work, I guess it would just be a perspective on the -- on what the customers felt or what GEC felt they needed.
     MS. LEA:  Can you tell me how much your costs would increase, if you decided to use a 16 inch pipe rather than a 12 inch pipe?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I can.  At interrogatory -- tab 2, interrogatory number 1, we did indicate that the incremental costs of going from 12 inch to 16 inch was $470,000.
     MS. LEA:  And did that interrogatory also ask you for a change in the economics as a result?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That question was asked in tab 1.
     MS. LEA:  It is also helpful when you're referring to the IRs to tell us who asked the question.  I know you have given us good tabbing, it just helps us a little bit.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That would be Aiken.  Tab 1.  Question 4.
     MS. LEA:  Uh-huh.  And what was the answer?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  And this question, the question asked for the profitability index of the investment portfolio on and the rolling portfolio if a 16 inch was built.  The investment portfolio PI would be 2.4, and the rolling portfolio PI would be 2.52.
     MS. LEA:  And is either of those --
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Can I add to my response, Ms. Lea.
     MS. LEA:  Great.  Yes, please.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The second part of that question, part B, they asked to provide the DCF analysis assuming a 16 inch was built.  In response to that, the PI of a 

stand-alone economics is 9.28.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm not sure whether this question belongs to this panel, or another panel.  You can let me know.
     In your intervenor evidence, in Union's intervenor evidence, there is a statement that GEC's connection to Vector will duplicate Union's own connection to Vector.  The question I had, which I think is for this panel is wouldn't Union also be building a duplicate connection by building this pipeline?
     MR. HYATT:  No, we would not.  We have in place an existing or we're just in the process of completing an existing connection to the Vector pipeline.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.
     MR. HYATT:  It was really designed to provide he security and diversity of supply to the Sarnia industrial market.
     MS. LEA:  Is that your sole connection to Vector or do you have others?
     MR. HYATT:  We have another connection at the Dawn compressor station.
     MS. LEA:  Did you say that connection is yet live or not?
     MR. HYATT:  I believe it is in service.
     MS. LEA:  Now, in Schedule 6 in your evidence you provided a DCF analysis.  I just wanted to confirm that the revenues in that analysis are coming solely from the GEC pipeline revenues.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  There's been some discussion in the evidence about whether the PI of 10.14 on a stand-alone basis indicates an excessive cross-subsidy of -- by GEC to other customers.
     Do you wish to comment on that?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I don't believe that to be the case.  The analysis for this project is viewed in the context of the overall system expansion, and we would look at the portfolio analysis and the investment portfolio as an assessment of the reasonableness of how this would impact on the total company.  The portfolio analysis looks at all of the attachments to Union's systems and it would include all of the attachments for residential and small commercial.  In many cases, those projects have longer break-even points.  They are run over longer periods of time, and those projects would have more near-term rate impacts.
     This project would have to be viewed in the context of the overall portfolio.
     MS. LEA:  One of the reasons I asked the question is that I understand, if there is -- if the project is not profitable, if it doesn't pay for itself, you require some contribution in aid of construction from customers; is that the case?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  So if the customer -- if the project is highly profitable, you give nothing back to the customer.  But if the project is not profitable, you ask for a contribution in aid of construction?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Now, the revenues from this service to GEC 

-- when were your rates last adjusted, your distribution rates adjusted?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The rates that were used to determine the revenues from GEC, I believe, were effective July 1st.
     MS. LEA:  Of this past year?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  But in calculating the rate that the Board found to be just and reasonable for you, the revenues from this pipeline were not included in the projected revenues for this year I would imagine, as the project was not yet in service and you had no certainty it would be built.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Have you yet filed for 2007 rates?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.
     MS. LEA:  In answer to the Aiken Interrogatory No. 2, which I think is tab 1, Interrogatory No. 2, you indicate that almost all of the costs of the project are passed through to -- with the benefit of lowering in‑franchise customer rates.  Is that the purport of your answer?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Could you repeat the question?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  In the Aiken Interrogatory No. 2, tab 1, IR No. 2.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have that here.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  You've given a schedule which shows the estimated first full-year impact by rate class.  And as I understand that schedule, it indicates that almost all of the costs of the project -- pardon me, the revenues of the project are passed through to lower in‑franchise customer rates to make them lower than they otherwise would have been; is that correct?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That would appear to be the case from this response.  This response was prepared by Mr. Kitchen, who is on panel 3, so you're best to direct any questions in that regard to him.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So questions about rates and how costs and revenues of this project flow into them is panel 3?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  One moment, please.  Sorry for my confusion.


We've heard evidence from GEC that they're not seeking service from Union and are not seeking a special rate or any rate from Union at all.


How can this Board approve your application, if you have no customer to serve?


MR. CAMERON:  If I might suggest, Mr. Chairman, that is certainly an issue I will be dealing with in argument.  I don't mind the witness trying to answer the question, but I'm not sure that, on what is probably a legal question, she has a view.


MS. LEA:  Well, Mr. Chairman, this witness has put forward ‑‑ is dealing with the economics of the project.  She has presumed that a customer exists and certain revenues will flow.  I would like the witness to try and answer or perhaps make a suggestion as to how the Board can deal with this matter.


MR. CAMERON:  Well, I will suggest both.  I will let the witness try and answer, and the other thing is the panel number 3, which is dealing with the commercial aspects of the competing applications, could probably offer something on that point, too.


MS. LEA:  I will certainly repeat the question to them.  Thank you.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Union's application in this proceeding is proposing to construct the facilities to serve GEC.  The economics for the project assume that we are able to serve GEC with firm service T1 transportation service.  That's the basis on which the economic analysis was conducted.  


I'm not sure what more I can say.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you assumed that GEC would take service and, further, you assumed that they would be paying the T1 rate for that service, T1 firm rate?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And that would be the rate that appears in the rate tariff which we've seen, and it is listed ‑‑ it's listed in the rate tariff.  And are the actual numbers that appear on the rate tariff not some lower or negotiated rate?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.  It's right on the tariff.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  If I might have a moment, Mr. Chair.


Did you assume ‑‑ you may be able to assist me further by looking at the rate ‑‑ T1 rate tariff that was filed as part of GEC's evidence, actually.  It's at Exhibit B, tab 9, or if you have a copy of the same rate tariff.


 MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have that here.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What did you assume that GEC had contracted for, out of the options in this rate tariff, when you did the economics of the project?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I would like you to ‑‑ to refer you to an interrogatory response ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  ‑‑ to GEC, tab 6, Interrogatory 8(a).


MS. LEA:  Yes.  One moment, please.  Yes, thank you.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  There is an attachment that outlines the calculation of the revenue that was included in the economic analyses.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment.  Is any storage service or payment for storage service included in this revenue that you're presuming?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I think the other questions that I had do relate to other panels, so those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Mr. Warren, would you like to go next?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Sure, sir.  Panel, my name is Robert Warren.  I'm here representing the interests of two clients who, in turn, represent residential consumers.  I have only a few questions for you, and it's entirely possible that they may be more appropriately asked of another panel, but let me try.


I want to deal ‑‑ this is really a segue from a question my friend Ms. Lea asked you.  Has Union, to your knowledge, ever had an application for -- a facilities application, a leave-to-construct application, where you didn't have a customer?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I don't know.  I don't know if Mr. Hyatt ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Can I get, panel, an undertaking to respond to that question?  Can you determine if that's ever been the case?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I would think that questions of that nature should be addressed to panel number 3.


MR. WARREN:  Panel 3, okay.


MR. CAMERON:  I can advise that there is at least one prior incident where we were in almost exactly the same situation.  That was the Coral Brighton Beach project.


MR. WARREN:  Can my friend advise me what the resolution of that was?  I'm generally familiar with it, but perhaps, through you, if I could ask Mr. Cameron to tell us how that was resolved?


MR. CAMERON:  We came to a commercial arrangement with Brighton Beach and the application was withdrawn ‑‑ sorry, the application proceeded and Brighton Beach's application was withdrawn. 


MR. WARREN:  Now, panel, as a follow-up from that, and again drilling down a little further on the question that Ms. Lea asked, I'm wondering, panel, if the Board were to deny GEC's application but to grant yours, and you didn't have a customer, how do you foresee resolving the Mexican stand-off that then occurs?  You don't have a customer.  You have approval to build.  Are you going to build it, anyways?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Then how is it resolved as a practical matter?  You have approval to build a pipeline and GEC says, We're not going to deal with you.  What happens?  Just not going to build it?


MR. HYATT:  I would expect, if there wasn't an agreement that was in place, we would not build the pipeline.


MR. WARREN:  It does, I take it, panel, put you in the position of having a fairly substantial leverage with GEC if their application is denied and yours is granted.  Is that not the case?
     MR. CAMERON:  If I might suggest, that specific issue can be dealt with by panel number 3.  They're anticipating that issue.  And I might also add, if it assists my friend, that we would expect that if, at the time of resolution there was not in place a contract with GEC, that any authorization granted by this Board would be conditional on such a contract being in place before construction commenced.
     MR. WARREN:  Then, panel, have you ever -- are you aware of any circumstance where you had a PI as high as 2.38 for a construction project?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  Would I be wrong in assuming that that's an unusually large PI -- unusually high, I'm sorry.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  A PI of 2.4 would not be considered unusually large.
     MR. WARREN:  Then can I ask the next question.  Would I be wrong in a kind of crude response to this by saying that it strikes one intuitively that the economics of this amount to kind of a windfall for Union.  Would you agree with that?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No, I wouldn't.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Can I just ask, just to ensure the record is clear.  Mr. Warren, you referred to the PI for the project as being 2.5.  I understand the PI for the project is between 9 and 10, depending upon the size of the pipeline.  I don't know if that has a bearing on your question and I apologize for interrupting.
     MR. WARREN:  You're quite right.  I was using a different number.
     Regardless of what the exact number is, I take it that you don't agree that the profitability that you foresee in this project is a windfall.  Your answer is, no, you do not?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.  I don't agree with that.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, then as a follow up to another question -- and this may be a question for another panel -- I take it that my understanding, and it could be wrong, is that the T1 rate provides you with flexibility of negotiating a rate with GEC; is that fair?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Should GEC accept required firm service from Union under the T1 rate schedule, the rates that we would charge would be based on the rates that are stated in the toll.
     Should GEC require interruptible service from Union, that is a matter of negotiation between GEC and the customer.
     MR. WARREN:  And if, in the latter circumstance, if they accepted interruptible service and you negotiated a rate, I take it that the economics of the project from Union's perspective, might well change; is that fair?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's fair.
     MR. WARREN:  I think those are my questions.  The rest will be deferred to another panel.  Thank you.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

Ms. Callingham, perhaps it will assist the panel if you just describe for us the difference between all of the profitable indexes we heard of today.  There is the 10 point something, which may be the stand-alone.  There is the portfolio index and there is the investment index.  Perhaps you could provide a bit of background on this, please.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Certainly.  In EBO 188, the Board held a generic hearing to determine the guidelines that Union should follow in assessing the economic feasibility of new investments in our distribution franchise.
     In that proceeding, the Board directed Union to follow a portfolio approach to assessing the feasibility of expanding facilities to serve new customer attachments on the system.
     In that decision, the Board established two portfolio approaches that they asked Union to monitor.  One was the rolling portfolio, which represents the expansion projects and customer attachments that were actually approved over a preceding 12-month period.  And they also recommended the use of a distribution investment portfolio approach, which looked at the expansions to serve all growth in the distribution franchise area in a given year.

The distinction between the rolling portfolio and the investment portfolio, there's a couple of distinctions.  The rolling portfolio, of course, has approved projects over the preceding 12-month period.  It would also not include attachments in the year that related to existing mains.  It would only include attachments that related to new facilities that were installed in a year.  And it would also look at the life cycle of those projects.
     So the rolling portfolio would look, if you were attaching a new main and you were serving customers over multiple periods in the future, the rolling portfolio would recognize that.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I would assume there would be a threshold.  Is that a one?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It is a one.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So then, based on your response to interrogatory on -- the one from Mr. Aiken, there is no issue?  The threshold has been passed.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  There is no issue.  And in fact, part of the rationale for the Board to have Union adopt a portfolio approach is that they recognized that we would have some projects that would be more profitable than others.  And that was one of the benefits that they felt of a portfolio approach, is that the more profitable projects would help to mitigate the potential rate impacts of less profitable projects.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  As a matter of course, when you are doing an analysis for an additional, the incremental customer, do you go through the stand-alone economic analysis as you've done for GEC?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  We would look at the individual economics on a stand-alone basis, as well as consolidating them up into a portfolio.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Again, the stand-alone analysis shows a PI of 10 point something.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It shows a PI of 10.14.
     MR. VLAHOS:  If you reflect a larger inch pipeline, then it becomes 9 point something?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  I believe that was 9.28.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thanks for that elaboration.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I might also add, Mr. Chairman, there is a description of the portfolios provided in one of the interrogatory responses for the record.
     That was in GEC, tab 6, question 6.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Callingham.  

Mr. Manning, do you have any questions?
     MR. MANNING:  I have no questions, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.
     MR. MANNING:  No question, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan?
     MR. LOKAN:  No questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Scully?
     MR. SCULLY:  No questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Land.  I'm sorry.  Ms. Newland?
     MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir, I have a few questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right, go ahead.  Please.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. NEWLAND: 
     MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  

Good morning gentlemen, and Madam.  I think the few questions I have this morning will be for you, sir.  Could you turn up -- maybe you don't have to read it up.  I'm going to be referring to Exhibit B, page 17, which is the GEC application.  Do you have that in front of you?
     MR. HYATT:  Was that page 17?
     MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.  Page 16, rather, and going over to page 17.
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I have that.
     MS. NEWLAND:  I'm looking at the section under the heading “Gas Acquisition.”  And just by way of preface to what I'm about to ask you, in an interrogatory, you don't have to turn it up but it was an Enbridge interrogatory, number 11, to GEC, Enbridge asked GEC the question, whether or not the gas acquisitions options that would be available to GEC, which are discussed on pages 16 and 17 that I've just referred to you, are not a function or don't depend on who builds the interconnection with the plant, whether it is GEC or Union.
     And the answer we received from that question was that:  Yes, it did depend on who built the interconnection and that the options that were outlined on pages 16 and 17 would not be available to GEC if Union were to build the interconnection.


So that is just the context in which I'm going to be asking you my questions.


You will see that at the bottom of this page, GEC says that:

"Constructing the pipeline to connect with the Vector pipeline will give GEC several options for supplying fuel to the plant."


And it goes on to discuss, actually, two main options.  One is that:

"GEC would be able to purchase delivered natural gas at the inlet to their pipeline from sellers holding transportation capacity on the Vector line."


Do you see that, sir?


MR. HYATT:  Can you give me that reference again, please?


MS. NEWLAND:  I'm just reading from the paragraph under the heading "Gas Acquisition" on page 16.


MR. HYATT:  Okay.


MS. NEWLAND:  Of Exhibit B.


MR. HYATT:  Can you ask the question again, please?


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I hadn't actually got to a question.  I was just trying to put the question in context.


MR. HYATT:  Okay.


MS. NEWLAND:  I was drawing your attention to the evidence of GEC where they said in an interrogatory that their option of building the pipeline gave them more supply acquisition options than the Union pipeline would.


And the two supply options that they outline in their evidence as being able to use if they built their own pipeline, one of them was to be able to take forward-haul volumes off Vector at the Vector‑GEC interconnect and deliver them to the plant.


My question really has to do with the schematic that you discussed in your examination in‑chief this morning.  I believe it's the first one that shows the Vector line, the TCPL line and the Sarnia industrial line.


MR. HYATT:  Yes, I have that.


MS. NEWLAND:  If you look at the Union Courtright station, there is, as I understand your testimony this morning, a meter station ‑‑ let me put it this way.  There is an interconnect that is currently in service between the Vector line and the Union Sarnia industrial line; is that correct?


MR. HYATT:  That is correct.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  So Union at least has the facilities that would permit the delivery of forward-haul volumes on Vector to be diverted at that interconnection point and delivered to the plant; correct?


MR. HYATT:  From an operational perspective, that's true.  I'm not familiar with the ‑‑ for the commercial arrangements that would make that happen, but certainly from an operational perspective it does work.


MS. NEWLAND:  I was restricting my question to the operational perspective, because I understand that is what your responsibilities are on this panel.


MR. HYATT:  I guess I would ‑-


MS. NEWLAND:  Sorry?


MR. HYATT:  ‑‑ clarify that, that that is a -- when it comes off of Vector, it really goes into Union's integrated system, and then flows, as a combined stream, to the GEC plant and the other customers on the Sarnia industrial system.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Now, I would like just to get a better understanding of the other ‑‑ I don't think it is really schematic.  It is more like a -- I guess I would call it a conceptual drawing.  This is the one you discussed this morning with the two ovals and the heading "GEC Serve From Union, GEC Direct From Vector".  Do you have that?


MR. HYATT:  Yes, I do.


MS. NEWLAND:  And in GEC's evidence, they talk about the second ‑‑ their second supply option would be to purchase gas at Dawn and have it for delivery at the GEC plant in some fashion, and we've had discussions with the GEC panel about how that may or may not happen.  But I would like to have your ‑‑ I would like to hear from you about how Union would serve GEC using its Dawn hub, with reference, in particular, to this conceptual drawing.


MR. HYATT:  Basically, if we look at the drawing that is at the top of the page, we really show all of the ‑‑ we show Dawn at the centre of that oval, and then around that Union's integrated system.  Really, Union has a number of interconnects that it serves.  We've shown those, Vector, TransCanada, Enbridge, the St. Clair line, Bluewater, TCPL, our Ontario production and our connection down at Ojibway to the panhandle system.  


All of those pieces can come together to be able to serve all of Union's customers and would include the service to GEC.


 MS. NEWLAND:  How does that differ than the situation on the bottom of this drawing?


MR. HYATT:  The drawing on the bottom really illustrates that if GEC is served direct from Vector, they do have a connection to the Vector pipeline, which -- and the Vector pipeline also connects to Dawn.  So there is a connection to the Vector pipeline, but it does not have the benefit of Union's integrated system.


MS. NEWLAND:  Those benefits are what, sir, briefly speaking?


MR. HYATT:  They really are the connections to all of those pipelines that we show in the upper drawing and the flexibility that they provide or Union provides to its customers.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, those are all of my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Newland.  Ms. Land?


MS. LAND:  I have no questions for this panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Brown?


MR. BROWN:  No questions, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Moran?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  I have a few questions, Mr. Chair.


Let me start with you, Ms. Callingham.  I want to explore a little bit further the issue of the profitability index calculation, calculations that you carried out.


You have described for the Chair the two portfolios and what they're intended to do.  Could you describe what the purpose of the profitability index itself is intended to do?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  The profitability index, or PI, is a reflection of the extent to which the -- all costs associated with the project are recovered from customers.  So it's a measure of that.


A PI of 1, for instance, would indicate that over the time frame for which the analysis was run, the present value of all cash coming in for a project would be equivalent to the present value of all cash going out.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So if it's a PI of 1, the revenue matches the costs, right, in simple terms?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  If it's 2, the revenue is double the cost?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Not necessarily.  It's a ratio.  I guess, yeah, it would over the life of the project.


MR. MORAN:  And if it's 3, it is triple, and so on; right?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And in the case ‑‑


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Rationally, I guess.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  And in the case of the profitability index for your proposed facilities, the PI is 10.14 for the 12-inch facility.  That means that the revenue that you would recover over the life of the project is ten times the cost, right, in simple terms?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I would like to refer you to schedule 6, which shows the stand‑alone project economic analysis.  This is an analysis that shows the profitability index of 10.1 that you are referring to.


That would indicate that the ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Sorry, if you could give me a moment to turn up schedule 6, please.  Wrong binder.  Thank you.  Go ahead.  I have it now.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  This schedule 6 shows that the incremental capital outlay for the project is $5 million.  It shows the, over the life of the project time horizon, over which this was a 21-year period, that over that time frame the present value of the cash coming in would exceed the present value of the cash going out by $46.5 million.  That's the project NPV.  That's the measure of the extent to which the revenues coming in would exceed the costs on a present value basis.
     MR. MORAN:  In other words ten times; right?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Roughly.
     MR. MORAN:  10.14 times, to be more precise.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Pardon me?
     MR. MORAN:  10.14 times, to be more precise.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.  The minimum PI is one.  So the PI, I guess, above one is 9.14.
     MR. MORAN:  The net present value of the revenue will be 10 times greater than the net present value of the cost over the 21-year period.  Right?  That's what the calculation is all about.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The PI calculation is a ratio, if you will, of the inflows on a present value basis, on an 

after-tax present value basis to the capital investment of the project.  That's the ratio that it represents.
     So it would look at the present value of the capital investment outlays, and it would compare that to the net present value of the net cash coming in for a project, which is the revenue minus the operating expenses that are shown on the schedule.
     So the minimum criteria for a project of this type of project is a PI of one.
     MR. MORAN:  Would you agree that was where everything matches; right?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I would agree that that's the point, a PI of 1 is the point where, over the life of the project, you actually have broken even.  So that would be in the 21st year of a project, you've recovered all of your costs.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Operating and capital costs.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  If it's a PI of 10, that ratio -- if it's ten times, it's not one to one any more.  It is ten to one; right?
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, I'm not sure how much further we can take this.  10.13 is the overall profitability index and it takes one to make it economic.  So can we just go with that and move on.  Thank you.
     MR. MORAN:  I thought this was an easy question for the witness, Mr. Chair.
     Now, looking at that profitability index of 10, that's a huge profitability index, isn't it?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's a very good project, yes.
     MR. MORAN:  In fact, I don't think you've seen a profitability index for a power generation connection like that ever, right.  The rest have all been under five.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I personally have not seen all of the economics for all of the power-generation customers we serve.
     Certainly we provide a sample of the more recent power customers that have been served on the Union system.  And they're provided in the response to -- would be GEC, tab 6, interrogatory 7(c) provides a sample of other PIs for power projects.  And there is probably a half a dozen there, and the highest one and that particular listing shows a PI of five, roughly.
     MR. MORAN:  All less than half of the PI that --
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  For the ones that are shown on that listing.  We serve other power customers, and I am not familiar with the economics for every power customer that we serve.
     MR. MORAN:  Now, moving to the investment portfolio PI.  We asked you what that would be without the addition of Greenfield.  And you indicated that that would be 1.53.
     With the addition of Greenfield, that moves up to 2.38 on the basis of a 12-inch pipe; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  What question are you referring to there, Mr. Moran?
     MR. MORAN:  Can you look at IR number 6, tab 6, response B.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have that.
     MR. MORAN:  The profitability index for your investment portfolio without the inclusion of GEC is 1.53; right?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  With the addition of GEC, that goes up to 2.38.  Correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Representing an increase of 56 percent.  Correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I will take that subject to check.  I haven't done that calculation.
     MR. MORAN:  If you look at the rolling portfolio profitability index, without Greenfield that's 1.55, as you indicated in answer D in the same interrogatory; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MR. MORAN:  With the addition of Greenfield, that changes to 2.55; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  Representing an increase of 65 percent; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Again, I will take that subject to check.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  Again, this is a very large impact on the profitability index of your entire -- the entire portfolios that we just talked about; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does increase it by the magnitude of what you stated.
     MR. MORAN:  And as Ms. Lea asked you and I think you indicated to her, clearly Union is not going to provide any payment back to Greenfield in the context of such a profitable project; correct?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.  Based on the EBO-188 guidelines, the purpose, one of the main reasons that the investment portfolio was established, is to assess all of the projects in relation to what rate impact all of the expansion on Union's system would have on rates.  And it would be considered any benefits in excess of costs would ultimately go back to the ratepayers.
     MR. MORAN:  So as a customer, Greenfield will be, in effect, making a payment to other ratepayers then?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  And to the extent that Greenfield Energy was a customer, they would share in whatever benefit other customers in the same class received a benefit.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Mr. Hyatt, I have a couple of questions for you on your schematic, Exhibit 2.2.
     Looking at the first page, you provided a schematic of the local area where you're proposed connection for Greenfield would tie into the Courtright station; right?
     MR. HYATT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And at the Courtright station, you've indicated two connections, one to TCPL and one to Vector; right?
     MR. HYATT:  That's correct.
     MR. MORAN:  And the one to Vector, is that the new Vector connection that you were discussing earlier in your evidence?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, it is.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And are you familiar with the Greenfield facilities proposal?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I am.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  So you will agree that the Greenfield facilities proposal is a pipeline that will go up and connect to the Vector pipeline; right?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes.  It would basically add another box, if it were to take place.  It would add another box to that adjacent to Union's Courtright station.
     MR. MORAN:  Right.  So we could put in a little box with GEC's Vector connection and the little dotted line just like you've done for the Courtright station, right, connecting to Vector?
     MR. HYATT:  If the GEC proposal was approved, yes, that would happen.

MR. MORAN:  So really, the only real difference then between the two proposals is that Greenfield's doesn't go through the Courtright station and yours does; right?


MR. HYATT:  I think the real difference between the two proposals is the fact that the Union's proposal connects it to Sarnia, the Sarnia industrial system, and gives access to all of the benefits that Union's system provides.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  In the Greenfield pre-filed evidence, which you've indicated you're familiar with, there was a discussion of one possible arrangement to compare the two proposals, and that arrangement was firm transport from Dawn.  Are you familiar with that component of Greenfield's case?


MR. HYATT:  Can you give me the reference for that, please?


MR. MORAN:  Certainly.  Can you turn up page 22 of 42?


MR. HYATT:  Is that called table 2?


MR. MORAN:  It is called table 2.  And if you open up page 38, as well, which is table 5?  If you look at these two tables, it's a comparison of ‑‑


MR. HYATT:  Excuse me.  I haven't found table 5.


MR. MORAN:  Page 38.


MR. HYATT:  Thirty-eight?  I have those two.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So one arrangement is firm transportation from the Dawn hub to the Greenfield power station, and in table 2 there's a description of what those costs would be under the T1 ‑‑ sorry, under the Greenfield proposal with its own pipeline; right?


MR. HYATT:  Actually, I think a discussion of these two tables would be better suited to panel 3.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let me come from a different direction, then.  If you look at your proposal and assume that you're taking firm transportation from the Dawn hub, and you look at Greenfield's proposals and assume that Greenfield is taking firm transportation from the Dawn hub, let's look at what that means from an operational perspective or a facilities perspective.  Are you with me?


MR. HYATT:  I think so.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, looking at your page 1 of your Exhibit 2.2 schematic, you will agree with me that firm transportation from the Dawn hub under your proposal would either be forward haul and with -‑ on the Vector or TransCanada pipeline with gas being dropped off at the Courtright station; right?


MR. HYATT:  From an operational perspective, volumes could flow into Sarnia, the Sarnia industrial system, from either Vector or TransCanada.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  We'll get to that in a minute, but I'm talking about what happens on the Vector and TransCanada pipelines.  Volumes can be taken off at the Courtright station in the context of your facilities; right?


MR. HYATT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And volumes can be taken off the Vector pipeline for the Greenfield proposal; right?


MR. HYATT:  Now, were you referring to Union serving Greenfield?


MR. MORAN:  No.  I'm now talking about the Greenfield proposal.  We're comparing these two options.  Under your option, you've indicated that gas can be dropped off at the Courtright station from the Vector or TransCanada pipelines; right?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Under the Greenfield option, gas can be dropped off from the Vector pipeline to serve Greenfield; right?


MR. HYATT:  Yes.  That's what I tried to show on the third schematic, at the bottom of the page.


MR. MORAN:  And under your arrangement, I think you were indicating a little earlier that gas could also be brought around through the Sarnia industrial line to get to the Greenfield centre; right?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And, operationally, you will agree with me that it's also possible to back haul from Dawn, as well, right, on TransCanada and Vector?


MR. HYATT:  It is operationally possible to ‑‑ you have -- the physical connection is at Dawn, to flow back from Dawn to ‑‑ into Vector pipeline.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. HYATT:  At this point, there is not that capability on the TransCanada pipeline.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So it is only available on the Vector pipeline?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So in that context, from an operational perspective, the two proposals are identical, then, correct, Greenfield and Union's?  It's not possible on TransCanada, and Greenfield is not connecting to TransCanada, anyway.  So back haul is available on Vector for both projects, right, operationally?


MR. HYATT:  Operationally, yes.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  I would like to turn to the third page in Exhibit 2.2 of the schematics.


Was this a schematic that you personally prepared?


MR. HYATT:  Yes, it was.


MR. MORAN:  And when we look at the schematic relating to GEC being served from Union, what we have is a circle at the centre with Dawn in it; correct?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Then another circle surrounding Dawn, which you've labelled as Union's integrated system; right?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  Then you have several arrows coming into the circles indicating the various sources of natural gas that are available; correct?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Now, when you look at the schematic that you prepared for the GEC proposal, all you have in there is Vector, GEC and Dawn; right?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And you have an arrow travelling towards Dawn; correct?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  But there is no arrow coming back from Dawn to represent the back-haul option that you said is operationally available; right?


MR. HYATT:  It really is -- the main flow would be from Vector towards Dawn, and then a flow off to GEC.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  But back flow is operationally available, as well?


MR. HYATT:  Operationally, yes.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  And TCPL, of course, ties into Dawn, and GEC would have access to gas delivered by TCPL to Dawn, as well; right?


MR. HYATT:  There is a market ‑‑ I believe there is a ‑‑ Union is a hub and volumes are available at the Dawn hub.


MR. MORAN:  So we could add an arrow in the GEC direct from Vector from TCPL pointing at Dawn; right?  To identify all of the possible sources for both options, that's one of the options; correct?


MR. HYATT:  I think, generally, the Dawn hub exists at Dawn.


MR. MORAN:  And GEC would have access to that market, correct, under its own proposal?


MR. HYATT:  I believe that's true.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So all of these arrows that you put around the Union-integrated Dawn system up above are available for the GEC proposal as well; correct?


MR. HYATT:  There is ‑‑ they do all have connections to Union's integrated system.


MR. MORAN:  Are you suggesting that some of these don't tie into Dawn, and, therefore, they're not available at Dawn?  It's an obvious one that doesn't and that's TCPL and Parkway; right?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.  I guess I would look at it, St. Clair and Bluewater are connections that are to other pipelines that are not at Dawn.


MR. MORAN:  Right.


MR. HYATT:  The panhandle connection at Ojibway is not at Dawn.


MR. MORAN:  So under your proposal, as I understand it, GEC would be delivering it at Dawn; correct?


MR. HYATT:  Our proposal was that GEC get served from Union's integrated system.


MR. MORAN:  But delivery would be obligated at Dawn; correct?


MR. HYATT:  I can't comment on the commercial arrangement.


MR. MORAN:  I understand, all right.  Let's move back to your schematic for GEC and see if we can put a little bit more flesh on the bones of that schematic.


The other thing that's missing from your schematic, of course, are the things that are available through Vector other than Dawn, and that would include Michigan storage; correct?


MR. HYATT:  Could you give me the reference again, please?


MR. MORAN:  I'm looking at page 3 of your schematic, Exhibit 2.2.


MR. HYATT:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Just to fill it out a bit, Vector is connected to other things besides Dawn; correct?


MR. HYATT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  And included in that are ‑‑ is Michigan storage; correct?


MR. HYATT:  You're going ‑‑ you're talking about the Vector pipeline back to Chicago?


MR. MORAN:  Uh‑huh.


MR. HYATT:  Yes, I believe that's the case.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  It's connected to Chicago; correct?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. MORAN:  There's access to Alliance and Northern Border?


MR. HYATT:  I believe that to be the case, at Chicago.


MR. MORAN:  ANR?


MR. HYATT:  That's beyond my knowledge level.


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Perhaps I can be of assistance, then.  If you could turn up, in the GEC pre-filed evidence, Schedule B2, which is a map of a Vector pipeline and connected facilities.


MR. HYATT:  I have that.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So there are a number of things shown in this map to which GEC would have access through Vector; right?


MR. HYATT:  I can't comment on GEC's access to that.


MR. MORAN:  We're talking about operationally or physically, okay.  Pipes are connected to pipes are connected to pipes; right?  That's what you're here to talk about.


MR. HYATT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  So that's what that map shows; right?  You've left all of that off in your description of the GEC direct connection to Vector in your schematic; right?


MR. HYATT:  In my schematic I show the connection of Vector to Union's integrated system.


MR. MORAN:  You included all of the stuff that is connected to Union's integrated system, but you didn't include all of the stuff that is connected to Vector under the GEC proposal; correct?


MR. HYATT:  I showed simply that Vector connected to GEC, and Vector connected to Dawn.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So that is a "yes" to my question?


MR. HYATT:  What was your question again?


MR. MORAN:  You showed everything that is connected to Union's integrated system, but you did not show everything that is connected to Vector under the GEC proposal?


MR. HYATT:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  So we could draw a little oval under the GEC proposal and put Vector in that little oval, right, and then draw a larger oval around it and put something called the regional integrated system, right, and then we could have a whole bunch of arrows coming into it, just like you did for the Union integrated system; fair enough?


MR. HYATT:  So you were looking to add some additional information to the Vector scenario?


MR. MORAN:  I'm going to move on, Mr. Hyatt.


As I understand it, you haven't done the preliminary design for the facilities that you're presenting in your application; is that correct?


MR. HYATT:  I didn't understand your question.


MR. MORAN:  For the proposed facilities, for the proposed Union facilities, you haven't done the preliminary design work yet, have you?


MR. HYATT:  You mean on the pipeline and station?


MR. MORAN:  Yes.


MR. HYATT:  Yes, we have done some preliminary -- we've done the, Mr. Mallette on panel 2 can talk about the pipeline construction and the design of the pipeline facilities.


I provided the size of that pipeline to GEC, and we have done a preliminary design on the metering and regulating station.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  So I should talk to Mr. Mallette about the status of all of that work?


MR. HYATT:  Yes, you should. 


MR. MORAN:  And you haven't had any discussions with anybody at Calpine on behalf of Greenfield Energy with respect to how you would connect to the Greenfield station; correct?


MR. HYATT:  No, I have not.


MR. MORAN:  All right.  And so in terms of how you would end up connecting to them at this point, you're not in a position to say so.  That work hasn't been done yet, from an engineering perspective?


MR. HYATT:  We have not had any discussions with the GEC on the exact needs of the GEC facility.  We have had available to us the information that was filed in pre-filed evidence.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are all of my questions for this panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Moran.  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  The Board has some questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Chaplin?


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Callingham, you were taken through a series of questions about the profitability index.  I just wanted to go back to that for a minute.


Am I correct that the bottom line of the profitability index is it's an indication of what the impacts are on rates for customers, from a particular project?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  In a general sense, it is not so much an impact on the near-term rates, but in a longer-term sense, yes, it would be an impact over the life of an asset or life of a project.  It would be an indication of whether or not revenues recovered costs and if there would be any rate impact.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Am I also correct in understanding that it's an analysis that's based on incremental costs?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Now, the fact that it's based on incremental costs, is there any sort of significance to that that the Board should consider when looking at the evidence in this case?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Can I ask in what, in what sense you mean that question?
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Certainly, the use of incremental costs is an accepted methodology to assess the feasibility of investment.  It's consistent with EBO 188 guidelines.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  Perhaps I'm being a bit cryptic.  Another way I might ask it is, if GEC were to be served by Union, would they be using other facilities than just these incremental facilities that are included in the PI analysis?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  They would use the facilities at Dawn for service.  I'm probably not the best person to be speaking to that.  If you want to understand the full extent of the facilities that would be utilized, that might be better addressed to panel 3, but ...     

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess what I'm just trying to get a sense of is -- you know, I understand the PI analysis.  But what I'm trying to understand or perhaps explore -- maybe you are not the appropriate panel -- is whether or not there is any additional considerations that should be taken when looking at this analysis, in terms of the fact that if GEC were to take service from Union, it would not just be using the incremental facilities.  It would be using other facilities as well.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I would think so.  And those questions can be handled by panel number 3.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.  

Ms. Callingham, just following up on this.  Ms. Chaplin was asking about marginal costs analysis, incremental cost analysis that you do utilize to do the profitability of a new customer.
     If I were to take a fully-costed approach, maybe that's where the question went to, would that be a reasonable way to exhibit the difference between the GEC cost versus the cost that you portray in the Union's analysis?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It may be an appropriate view of it.  Certainly from the point of view of assessing economics, which is my area of testimony, I would only look to the incremental costs to assess the feasibility of the investment.
     A comparison of the overall costs of GEC versus Union proposal, my understanding, there isn't sufficient -- we haven't done that analysis, and there isn't sufficient evidence on the record to even perform that analysis.
     To the extent that there are costs associated with the integrated system that are already recovered in existing rates and would be allocated based on the service level provided to GEC, Mr. Kitchen would be the best person to deal with that, that area of testimony.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Hopefully.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Lastly, if I look at Union's evidence, tab 6, that's where you show the analysis, the PI analysis.  Also, if I were to look at response to an interrogatory from Greenfield Energy Centre, interrogatory number 7.  So it would be tab 6.  Interrogatory 7.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have that.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have those two?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  If I look at the response, that's response (c) where you set out the profitability indices for the five or so projects there.  So those would compare with the 10.2 or something?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  They would, hmm-hmm.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Now, were those done on the same -- the methodology has not changed.  There is no change to the methodology when you compare the two different exhibits.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's my understanding the methodology is the same, yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And there is no other material change of the input.  For example, there may have been a discount factor you may have used.
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Certainly these projects that are shown on the answer to interrogatory 7 would have been prepared at a point in time with a certain set of assumptions, and the underlying assumptions may be different now than at the time that the analysis was conducted on these projects for purposes of getting leave-to-construct.
     So the discount rate may potentially be different that was used in this analysis, or even the rates.  EBO-188 requires that we use the existing approved rates for purposes of calculating the revenue when doing an economic analyses.  Depending on the timing of when this analysis was conducted, the rates may have been different at that time than they are today.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So what it does show, then, is the PI at that point in time for those five projects --
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.
     MR. VLAHOS:  -- versus the 10.2 PI for the GEC project today?
     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Those are the Board's questions.  

Mr. Cameron, any redirect?
     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CAMERON: 
     MR. CAMERON:  Briefly, some questions for Mr. Hyatt.
     Working backwards from the questions you received from those who cross-examined you, Mr. Hyatt, I would like to go to page 3 of the schematics.
     MR. HYATT:  I have that.
     MR. CAMERON:  And I thought I heard what you were trying to say to Mr. Moran, but I'm not sure it was clear on the record.
     He suggested to you that in the diagram at the bottom, as it pertains to Vector serving GEC, you could put either a circle or some other way of indicating that along with Vector comes some other things such as Michigan storage and interconnections at Chicago.
     And as I say, I think understood what you were saying, but let me ask you this.  For your Vector in the upper circle, where we're talking about Union's integrated system, would that, too, include whatever other functionality or operation capability comes with Vector out of Michigan storage or Chicago?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, it would.
     MR. CAMERON:  Let me ask you this as it pertains to the, again, diagram number 3.  Just by way of a possible illustrative example.
     If Vector went down, for maintenance or unanticipated reasons, and GEC were hooked up to the Union system, could Union sustain deliveries to the GEC facility?
     MR. HYATT:  Yes, it could.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  You were asked by Ms. Lea whether you have capacity on the line to serve other, Union's proposed line to the GEC facility, to serve other potential users along that line.
     I think you mentioned either one industrial facility or 1,200 residential units.
     Let me ask you this.  Suppose that you saw demand develop along that line greater than that, what is the first option Union would pursue with respect to serving that greater demand?
     MR. HYATT:  We would look at the facilities in the area and one of the considerations we would look at would be to look at perhaps connecting to the GEC facility, or alternatively, we could look at connecting the -- a portion of that line to GEC back into Union's existing line that goes into Terra, to sort of see if we could serve all of that demand.
     MR. CAMERON:  If I understood correctly, if there were demand above the 1,200 residential units or the plant, the first option you would consider would be looping into another existing line in the area?
     MR. HYATT:  That's correct.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Those are my questions in re-examination.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  

The panel is excused, with our thanks.  We will take our morning break now for 25 minutes.
     --- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Union would like to present now its second panel that will deal with matters of construction, cost, lands, and environmental.
     Seated to closest to you is Mr. David Wesenger.  Next to him is Mr. Douglas Schmidt.  In the middle is Mr. Jerry Mallette.  Beside him is Mr. Bev Wilton, and closest to me is Mr. Jeff Wesley.  Could I have the witnesses sworn, please.
     UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 2: 


David Paul Wesenger; Sworn
     Douglas Schmidt; Sworn
     Gerard Mallette; Sworn
     Beverly Howard Wilton; Sworn
     Jeff Alan Wesley; Sworn
     EXAMINATION BY Mr. Cameron:
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, I will introduce the witnesses in the order that they were sworn.  David Wesenger is a senior project manager with STANTEC Consulting Limited.  He was responsible for the preparation of the environmental assessment and for the applied-for pipeline facilities, the environmental assessment in schedule 9 to Union's evidence.
     Mr. Wesenger, do you have with you the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. WESENGER:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as it pertains to your area of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses for which you are responsible as your evidence in these proceedings.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions that you would like to make to the evidence or the responses to the interrogatories?
     MR. WESENGER:  No, I do not.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mr. Schmidt is a principal technical specialist with Union Gas.  He was responsible for the environmental planning, permitting and construction mitigation measures with respect to the proposed pipeline.
     Mr. Schmidt, do you have with you your evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses for which you are responsible as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  And I understand that you do have an update that you would like to make to the evidence?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, I do.  The Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee's summary of comments and their letter confirming the OPCC, has completed its formal review.  That was submitted to the Board on November 9th, 2005 and can be filed under schedule 10 of Union's prefiled evidence.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.
     MS. LEA:  I presume that was copied to all intervenors in the proceeding as well?
     MR. CAMERON:  Yes, it was.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Mallette, in the middle, is the project manager for this project, and can speak to costs and scheduling and engineering issues related to the pipeline.  

Mr. Mallette, do you have the evidence and interrogatory responses Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your areas of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses for which you are responsible as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions that you would like to make to the evidence or the responses to the interrogatories?
     MR. MALLETTE:  No, I do not.
     MR. CAMERON:  Sir, I understand that you have before you a document provided by the Board entitled “Draft Conditions of Approval,” with respect to Union's proposed facilities.
     Are you able to confirm for the Board that Union accepts those draft conditions of approval, in the event that leave to construct is granted by the Board?
     MR. MALLETTE:  I have one item that I would like to change, if possible, in those conditions.  I would accept all, except item 1.2, which indicates that construction shall commence prior to December 31st, 2006.
     I would prefer to have that changed to December 31st, 2007.
     MR. CAMERON:  And can you explain why you don't consider it necessary that construction be completed by December -- started by December 31st, 2006.
     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, in all likelihood, it will commence before December 31st, 2006; however, given the nature of these types of projects, the type of project that will be taking the gas, there are often delays to the schedule, and I think just to allow us a little bit of flexibility, it would be, I think, prudent to extend that time frame.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Now, with respect to the time frame, you've heard in the evidence of GEC that on their schedule for the operation of their facility, they require gas at the plant by May 1st, 2007.
     Based on Union's construction schedule and capabilities, do you have any doubt that Union could meet that May 1st, 2007 start date for the first deliveries of gas?
     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, the schedule that was filed with our prefiled evidence, indicated an in-service date of July 1st, 2007 based on GEC's evidence that was provided with their prefiled evidence.
     However, based on the testimony that we've heard this week, it would be possible for Union Gas to change their schedule to meet the in-service dates required by GEC.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mr. Wilton is the manager of lands and will be speaking to matters pertaining to land rights and acquisition issues.
     Mr. Wilton, do you have with you the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. WILTON:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. WILTON:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Jeff Wesley is the manager of franchise, municipal and aboriginal relations with Union Gas.  He is responsible for aboriginal relations across Ontario and municipal relations in southern Ontario.
     Mr. Wesley, do you have the evidence and interrogatory responses Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. WESLEY:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  And so far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt the evidence and interrogatory responses as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. WESLEY:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions you would like to make to the evidence?
     MR. WESLEY:  No, I don't.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you. 

Mr. Chairman, I have no other examination of these witnesses.  They are available for cross-examination.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  I'm just looking at the witness panel.  They look a little crowded in there, and it's a question of whether we can get a good sound or not from all of you gentlemen.  So it may be that I will ask one of you, Mr. Wesley, to move around -- let's see how it goes, but you may want to move around just one, and facing us so it will give everybody else a little bit more room.
     Okay, Ms. Lea.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:  
     MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  

Gentlemen, I wonder if I could take you to the construction schedule.  Where is that found in the evidence?  I guess that is Mr. Mallette I would be speaking to.
     MR. MALLETTE:  That's Schedule B.
     MS. LEA:  Schedule 8?
     MR. MALLETTE:  Sorry.  B -- "8" rather, yes.
     MS. LEA:  Now, sir, you have just indicated that you could meet an in-service date of May 2007.  Did I understand your evidence correctly?
     MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could take us through this proposed project schedule and indicate where these bars would have to move to in each circumstance to accommodate that.
     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  There's really two or three sections of this schedule.  The first section would be to the left side, which is most of it is shown in 2005.  Essentially, that takes us through the preliminary designs, environmental assessment and the regulatory process.


That is occurring now and is hopefully going to finalize around the time or perhaps a little bit earlier than what was shown on the schedule.


The next phase is the acquisition of materials, the completion of designs, detailed designs, and tendering and awarding a contract.  Those three bars could actually be slid over to the left considerably, all the way over to the beginning of 2006, actually, or even in a little bit into 2005, if you're talking about the design.


So that takes out a number of months out of the schedule.


MS. LEA:  Are there any prerequisites, other than a decision from this Board, that you would need before you could slide those bars over?


MR. MALLETTE:  I think the major thing that we would require is an agreement with GEC.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Go ahead.


MR. MALLETTE:  Then finally the construction itself, which is actually a fairly small portion of the overall schedule - this is not a big project - would be slid in there again and so, therefore, could be completed within 2006.


MS. LEA:  So over what months would you propose to construct?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, it depends very much on the designs that ‑‑ sorry, the agreement that we reach with Calpine and the delivery dates that they require.


I believe, if we were to be aiming for a May 1st 2007 date of flowing gas, we would want to put the pipeline in in the fall months of 2006, and then complete the meter station some time after the end of the pipeline construction, but before May 1st, 2007.  Some scenario like that should work and would be quite feasible.


MS. LEA:  Is there a problem with the wet weather you may encounter in the fall if you're trying to construct a pipeline at that time?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, when I say fall, I really mean early fall.  August, September, those months are usually very good for construction.  This being a two-kilometre pipeline, half of which is on road allowance, there would not be a problem with that.


MS. LEA:  How long would it take to construct?


MR. MALLETTE:  I would think from the very initial mobilization of equipment to the site and the time that they left, it would be no more than six weeks.  That's for the pipeline portion, I should clarify.


MS. LEA:  And are there any difficulties that you might encounter, in terms of obtaining materials, for an earlier start date as you've described?


MR. MALLETTE:  No, I don't believe so.  These are very commonly-available materials.


MS. LEA:  Could you confirm with me that the design specifications and the ‑‑ yes, the design specifications are in compliance with the relevant CSA standards?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, they are.


MS. LEA:  The operation of the pipeline will comply with the Technical Standards & Safety Act?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, the operation will.


MS. LEA:  Who do I speak to about land rights?  That would be you, Mr. Wilton?


MR. WILTON:  That would be me, yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, I gather that you provide us in your pre-filed evidence, page 14, with a list of the private landowners that are affected by the pipeline?


MR. WILTON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  And where are you, in terms of negotiating with these landowners?


MR. WILTON:  In the answer to Interrogatory 13 from VECC, we indicated that we've had ‑‑ Mr. Mallette has certainly had discussions with the road superintendents.  So the bulk of the running line will be on roads.  The only other landowner that we expect to need to require rights from at this point is Terra, and we have had initial discussions with Terra.  I understand that we were anticipating the outcome of the decision of this Board before we moved forward on any further negotiations with them.


MS. LEA:  So Terra understands that you need a customer and you need an approval before you can move forward?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  They have given us permission to enter their lands to examine possible routes and I think that, combined with the evidence of GEC that they have been in negotiations and have exchanged these documents with Terra, I think Terra clearly understands there would be an easement requirement.


MS. LEA:  Is it only an easement you would require on Terra?  I understood from GEC's evidence that they were contemplating purchasing some property.


MR. WILTON:  I'm not sure if GEC's purchasing.  I thought I heard that they were leasing some property from Terra.


MS. LEA:  I may have the landowners mixed up, sir, or it may be related to a piece of their project that you are not proposing would be part of yours.


Okay.  And the Mr. William Robson that is listed there, how is he affected by this proposed construction?


MR. WILTON:  Our understanding is that Mr. Robson will not be affected.


MS. LEA:  What about the necessary crossings that you will have to make over various utilities?  There's the Vector pipeline.  There's a brine line in the area.


Could you describe what arrangements need to be made and where you are in making those arrangements?


MR. MALLETTE:  The route that's being proposed by Union Gas is somewhat different than the one that's proposed by GEC, and there aren't as many crossings involved of other utilities.


MS. LEA:  Can you explain that answer, sir?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  We will not have to install a new connection to the Vector lines.  We're able to come out of our Courtright station on Greenfield Road, which is to the south of all of those lines.  So we just come straight across the road and head south, and we miss all of the crossings of all of the pipelines.


What we will have to cross is utilities that are in the road, on the ‑- within the road allowance, and that includes ‑‑ there's a water line, and there's a fibre optics cable that runs in the ground, as well.  So we will have to cross those. 


Then as we turn ‑‑ after we've gone down Greenfield Road and turned to the west, we will have to cross the Wylie drain, which is just an open drain.  So that's the only crosses that we have.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps you can enlighten me, sir.  I may have misunderstood the evidence, and you may not have been here to hear it, but is there not a brine pipeline that exists in that area, and is it not in your route, also?


MR. MALLETTE:  No.  It's not in our route.  The brine line runs on the west side of Greenfield Road and on the west side of Wylie drain.


As it gets down to the Pollard plant, I believe we've ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Is there a diagram I should be looking at, sir?  I have GEC's schedule B7, which has pipeline crossings, but I don't see the brine line there.  I may be missing it.  Perhaps you have provided a map which can illustrate your needed crossings.


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, it's fairly high level, but I guess schedule 1.


MS. LEA:  Very well.  Thank you.


MR. MALLETTE:  In the north‑south leg of the proposed pipeline, the brine line heads to the west about halfway down that, so that the brine line would parallel the pipeline, the first half of the north‑south leg.  Then the brine line goes to the west along the Pollard access road.


It remains to the west of the proposed pipeline at all times.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Have you begun discussions with respect to any encroachment permits that you may need?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  I have had a discussion with the road superintendent from St. Clair Township on three separate occasions, including one face‑to‑face meeting.


The location of the pipe, within the road allowance, would fall under the franchise agreement, so there is no encroachment permit required.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And the Wylie drain, is there some special permission needed for that?


MR. SCHMIDT:  We proposed to apply to the Ministry of Natural Resources and the Conservation Authority for a permit to cross that, so we will apply for a permit to those two agencies.

     MS. LEA:  What's the proposed method of crossing the Wylie drain?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  We are looking at a dam and pump crossing.
     MS. LEA:  And in the months that you propose to -- propose to build, is it an ephemeral stream or is there actually water flowing through it all year?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  This is a very good chance the drain will be dry at the time of construction.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, I would imagine that you have not yet had any discussions with GEC about obtaining any land rights that may be needed to connect the pipeline to the Greenfield facility.
     MR. WILTON:  I don't believe there have been any discussions about land rights.
     MS. LEA:  Have you any anticipation of what you would need in the Greenfield Energy Centre property in order to complete the work?
     MR. WILTON:  I think theoretically the pipeline, as it enters GEC's leased property, is really a service at that point in time.  The only customer at the end of that pipeline is GEC.
     So we have had circumstances with other industrial installations like this, where they have preferred to have an easement cover the pipeline, and what that does is, it defines the easement on the ground so that if they're doing any construction work or that kind of thing, survey bars and those kinds of things are easily found so it's easy to locate the pipeline.  But others are not required for us to take easement to cover that portion of the pipeline.
     MS. LEA:  I see.  So it's a matter of negotiation with the recipient of the service?
     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  And the form of the agreement that you propose to use has been filed?
     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  It's the Hamilton-Milton easement, which is the easement form which has most recently been approved by the Board.
     MS. LEA:  And that is -- as far as I can tell, the only landowner that would be using that easement would be Terra?
     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you have offered or will you offer to Terra that agreement?
     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Turning to some environmental matters, please.  Can you tell me what concerns are identified in the public information forums that you, I presume, conducted and how you address those concerns.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I can.
     MS. LEA:  You can turn the mike towards you, sir, if that helps.
     MR. WESENGER:  Thank you.  

We held a public information centre on April 28th, 2005.  Attendees that came to that open house, there were no specific concerns relayed regarding the pipeline itself

nor its alignment, nor the mitigation measures proposed for construction of that.
     We did have some attendees -- employees from the Lambton generating station and they expressed some concerns regarding the closure of that station, that had just been 

-- that had just been announced, I believe, the week of our open house.
     There were --
     MS. LEA:  Go ahead.
     MR. WESENGER:  There were also some concerns about the, I guess, confidence in the proposed operator of the station, but we weren't able to comment on any of those specific concerns.
     MS. LEA:  When you say "the station," what do you mean by the station?
     MR. WESENGER:  They were coming in with similar information, the employees of Lambton had similar information to -- regarding what -- I can't remember what exactly was filed.  It was the financial position.
     MS. LEA:  You're talking about the power plant.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  No. 

MR. WESENGER:  No, not about the pipeline.
     MS. LEA:  I wanted to make sure whose station we were talking about.
     MR. WESENGER:  The concerns were all related to the development of Greenfield Energy Centre itself and not the pipeline.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.
     MR. WESENGER:  I'm sorry.  There was one gentleman who did come.  He was formerly an employee of the County of Lambton.  He spoke about protection of trees.  His name was Malcolm Boyd.  He's now, I believe, a member of Lambton Stewardship Council for wood lots.  He had some concerns about the removal of trees and discussions about Union's tree replacement policy.
     MS. LEA:  What is your tree replacement policy?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Basically the tree replacement policy is replacing trees on a two-for-one area basis.
     MS. LEA:  And what attention do you pay to species mix?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  We do go through and assess what species, if it's necessary to remove trees, we go through and assess which trees are being removed and that gives us an idea of the types of trees that we like to see go back in as parts of replacement.
     MS. LEA:  Do you anticipate tree removal for this project?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Very limited, if any trees.
     MS. LEA:  Are there any specimen trees you think may be removed or that may be damaged?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  At this point in time, we have not identified any specimen tree.
     MS. LEA:  Does the pipeline cross agricultural land?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  It does.
     MS. LEA:  What are your soil protection and mitigation plans with respect to that?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Measures to minimize impacts on soils along the pipeline include implementing Union Gas's wet soil shut-down practice, topsoil stripping, maintaining proper separation between sub soil and topsoil, and flagging and repairing broken tiles.
     We also will propose a topsoil inspector to be out to monitor the topsoil stripping and its replacement.
     MS. LEA:  Have you identified yet a source of water for hydrostatic testing of the pipeline?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  There's two sources proposed.  One would be from the St. Clair River, another would be a municipal source.  So the final decision has not been made at this point in time.
     MS. LEA:  You might require a take water permit in those instances?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  We would require a take water permit, if we take it from the St. Clair River, and not from a municipal source.
     MS. LEA:  Whereabouts on the St. Clair River would you take water?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  I believe there are a number of parks along the St. Clair Parkway.  We -- in the past we've taken from the parks as they provide enough room to bring the equipment in and take the water.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Turning for a moment to the interests that Walpole Island may have in this proposed construction.       There appears to be a statement in the environmental report that there are no land claims in the study area, by First Nations.
     Can someone explain to me whether that is an error, and if so, how it was made?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  That statement does appear in the environmental assessment, and since completion of that document, we have learned that that statement is in fact incorrect.  And if I could explain how that statement came to be in the environmental assessment.
     As part of the agency contact program that's initiated when began the assessment, which was early April, we sent letters of correspondence to all agencies.  In previous assessments, we had included the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs on our agency contact list, and we did do that on this project as well.
     However, we are remiss in not following up on the fact that we did not receive a reply from the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs.  We typically get a response back from them that identifies specific claims within the study area.
     Notwithstanding that, it was an error.  We should have had the First Nations adjacent to the study area, specifically Walpole Island First Nation.  It would have been beneficial to include them on the list because that information should have been documented in the environmental assessment in the background, environmental inventory, information regarding the lower reserve.
     MS. LEA:  When you became aware of the interest of Walpole Island in the area of the pipeline construction, what steps did you take?
     MR. WESENGER:  When I became aware of it, I contacted the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs to follow up with them of where their response was.  I believe that was on September 19th.  I didn't receive a response from them until very, very recently where they redirected between another branch of the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs.  However, Union Gas -- I'm not sure of the time, but Mr. Wesley has been involved in speaking with Walpole Island First Nation.
     MS. LEA:  Perhaps, Mr. Wesley, you could help us with what contact you've had with Walpole Island First Nation.
     MR. WESLEY:  Yes, if I could.  As indicated in our IR responses, we have a very long-standing relationship with not only Walpole Island but a number of other First Nations.  When I was initially contacted and made aware that they potentially had an issue, I immediately made contact with the chief and went and had a face-to-face meeting with him, at which time he filled me in on the lower reserve claim.
     MS. LEA:  What are your plans -- I understand you've done a stage one archaeological assessment; is that right?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Sorry to -- that's okay.  Whoever can answer should answer.  And did that archaeological assessment indicate areas of interest or potential heritage sites?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  The archaeological assessment indicated that there's, I believe, a moderate interest or moderate possibility of archaeological sites.
     MS. LEA:  Do you plan to do a stage 2 archaeological assessment if the Board grants approval for this plant line?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  Yes, we would.
     MS. LEA:  Would Walpole Island First Nation be involved?
     MR. SCHMIDT:  We would welcome participation from Walpole Island.
     MS. LEA:  Were there any concerns raised by the Township of St. Clair with respect to the construction, traffic control, mitigation of dust, that kind of thing?


MR. MALLETTE:  In the three meetings that I've had with them, there was no specific concern about that raised.


MS. LEA:  And will you implement traffic control measures?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  We will implement MTO standard traffic control measures, as we do on all road allowance projects.


We will further fine-tune those controls in accordance with the St. Clair Township requirements.


MS. LEA:  Will an environmental inspector be used or be present during construction of this project?


MR. SCHMIDT:  What we're proposing is a full-time pipeline inspector will be on site for the duration of the project and would be assisted by an environmental or topsoil inspector, as required.


MS. LEA:  And it is the pipeline inspector that will determine whether or not another inspector is required?


MR. SCHMIDT:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  Are there any recommendations that your environmental consultants have made - of course this is to the Union witnesses ‑ that you are not prepared to abide by?


MR. SCHMIDT:  We will accept all of the recommendations made by the consultant.


MS. LEA:  You will need certain permits, I gather, and licences to construct and operate the pipeline.  Have you begun the process of obtaining those, or are you waiting for a customer and an order from the Board?


MR. SCHMIDT:  I will speak with respect to environmental permits.  That process has not begun.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And TSSA licence, that kind of stuff, or do you need those things?


MR. MALLETTE:  We don't need anything additional to what we already have.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  You indicated that you had received an answer from the OPCC and filed that letter.  Are you prepared to ‑‑ did they make any recommendations?


MR. SCHMIDT:  No.  I received three comments.  Basically those comments were from the Ministry of Transportation.  They had a misunderstanding that we would have to cross Highway 40.  We cleared that misunderstanding up.  The Ministry of Natural Resources said they had no further comment, and the TSSA felt there was, I guess, a discrepancy in the pipe size and we clarified it was 12 inch. 


If I can just ‑‑ they also indicated it was in compliance with Ontario regulations, and they also indicated clause 2.8 of the code of adoption document would apply.


MS. LEA:  And you had no problem with those statements? 


MR. SCHMIDT:  We have no problems with those.


MS. LEA:  Do you have a program to track and address any concerns of affected parties, landowners during construction?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, we will employ our entire landowner relations program, which means that we will do pre-construction interviews with the landowners, provide all of that information to the construction contractor.  We will also employ a landowner relation’s agent during construction.


This pipeline is mostly on road allowance and really on one private property, but there is a tenant on that property that is farming the property at this time, so we will make the landowner relation’s agent available for both Terra and the tenant farmer.  And we will also be doing post-construction monitoring, and any complaints that are received into the landowner complaint resolution system will be documented there.


MS. LEA:  Has the tenant farmer been notified of this proposed construction?


MR. WILTON:  We have not notified ‑‑ Union has not notified the tenant farmer.


MS. LEA:  In section 8.3 of the STANTEC report there is an analysis of cumulative effects.  Who would be speaking to that?


MR. WESENGER:  That would be my responsibility to speak to that.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  If you could have a look at page 52 of the STANTEC report, please?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I have that in front of me.


MS. LEA:  In section 8.3.3.2, where you list impacts of moderate significance, you list impacts to the economy from the proposed project due to the closing of Lambton, and also possibly the benefits of a cleaner fuel source, the Ministry's ‑‑ Ministry of Energy's request for proposals for clean energy supply, and the effect of the closure of Lambton generating station being possibly offset by some of the operations of the GEC.


Do you see those references?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I do.


MS. LEA:  Is it your view, then, that this Board should take into account, when it looks at cumulative effects, those factors of the operation of the GEC plant when it's considering cumulative effects of the construction of the pipeline?


MR. WESENGER:  No, it is not.  And if I could explain the context of those remarks or those comments that are in the environmental assessment, the Board ‑‑ the environmental guidelines that were referenced in this document, the OEB guidelines, this document referred to and referred to in its preparation, in the cumulative effects section - I believe it is 4.3.1.3 of those ‑-


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. WESENGER:  ‑‑ of the guidelines - indicate that comments raised through public consultation should be included in the assessment of cumulative effects.  I had said earlier, in the comments of individuals who had attended the open house, that these ‑‑ this was the main type of information that was brought forward by the attendees.


The ‑‑ there were only 11, I believe, and more than half of those, as I recall, were employees of Lambton generating station, and these comments are reflective of the type of comments that they were making.


MS. LEA:  So do I understand your explanation to be that the reason for the inclusion of these comments about the closure of Lambton and the comparison of that to the GEC are as a result only of comments raised at a public meeting?


MR. WESENGER:  That's primarily why they were brought in to this document.


MS. LEA:  Primarily?  Are there other reasons?


MR. WESENGER:  That is the main reason.  I'm sorry.  That is the reason they're included in this section of the environmental assessment.


MS. LEA:  That is the reason?


MR. WESENGER:  That is the reason.


MS. LEA:  Is there anything in this report which would give the reader any idea that that was the reason that these comments were included?


MR. WESENGER:  There is ‑‑ not directly.  There is a reference on page 17 of this document, section 4.2.1.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  That's the reference to the public open house?


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.  And the last paragraph there, it states:   

"Some members of the public attending the information session also expressed concern over the proposed closing of Lambton generating station and the subsequent impact on local jobs."


MS. LEA:  But, sir, when we look at the sort of issues that you address in section 8.3.3.2, it is certainly a slightly larger list of issues than is raised in that section 4.2.1?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  You're speaking, I guess, the reference to the cleaner fuel source, which is in reference I guess to a policy decision by the government to develop such facilities as the Greenfield Energy Centre and closure of coal-burning facilities by 2009.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  And that, and references to the additional tax base.  There is no reference back to comments at the public open house in section 8.3.3.2, is there, to assist the reader?


MR. WESENGER:  No, there is not.  I'm sorry, if you were to go to ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Yes, please.


MR. WESENGER:  -- not specifically in that section, but if you go to, in ‑‑ page 47.


MS. LEA:  Forty-seven, one moment.


MR. WESENGER:  Section 8.3.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. WESENGER:  There is a table that appears there, "Analysis of Cumulative Effects".


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. WESENGER:  There's issues, the top one, derived from public consultation and project team expertise.


So in the cumulative effects framework that was undertaken, it is appropriate to bring those types of comments forward, in my judgment.


MS. LEA:  I understand.  I guess the difficulty I'm trying to express, which I think you don't disagree with me on, it's difficult for the reader to understand that the purpose of section 8.3.3.2 is to relay the public comments rather than the project team expertise as to what the Board should consider in its consideration of cumulative impacts?


MR. WESENGER:  It is somewhat confusing, and it perhaps would have been helpful to qualify those comments or that section of the report, that they were brought forward through the public consultation.


MS. LEA:  Sir, I gather that Union regularly does environmental impact assessments and you have provided those before, as well?

MR. WESENGER:  I have been responsible for the preparation of several environmental assessments for Union Gas, as well as other utilities, and documents that have been filed with this Board with leave-to-construct applications.
     MS. LEA:  In those previous assessments, has the end use of the gas or the user of the pipeline, the effect of that use or user on the socioeconomic or physical environment, been taken into account as a cumulative effect?
     MR. WESENGER:  No, it has not.  We have not looked at -- I have worked on projects where the end use has been residential homes.  We have not looked at the impact of consuming or burning that fuel in residential homes.
     Likewise, we have not looked at the cumulative effect of the upstream side, so of extracting that gas, and what happens out west and the interaction of those projects on this specific pipeline project.
     My interpretation of the Board's guidelines is that it's very specific to pipeline construction.  The cumulative effects assessment that is in this document, I believe, is responsive and relevant to the OEB guidelines.
     There are no federal triggers here with this project that would elevate or push it to that type of cumulative effects assessment under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act.
     MS. LEA:  One moment, please.  One moment, please, I just want to see if I have anything further.  I've got panel bits of paper all over the place.
     Thank you.  Those are my questions of this panel.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  

Mr. Warren.  Any questions? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN: 
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.  Excuse me, panel, I have only one for you and it is this:  Is there a material difference between the anticipated environmental impact of your pipeline proposal and that of GEC?
     MR. WESENGER:  You're talking about the environmental difference between the routes for these pipeline projects?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.
     MR. WESENGER:  I have reviewed the environmental assessment prepared by GEC for the pipeline.  We follow the same alignment.  Theirs is slightly longer as they require to -- very minimally.  We're talking a few hundred or a hundred metres, possibly, where they tie in to Vector.
     There would be perhaps some additional environmental impacts, with under crossing the Vector pipeline, but very minor in nature.  
     They required a station to be constructed.  I'm not sure of the exact location of that station on the west side of Greenfield Road, but it's not my evidence.  I would say that there's no significant difference between the two projects.
     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

Mr. Manning.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MANNING:  
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Board counsel has done quite a bit of the work, and I will be sharing these questions with Mr. Lokan.  So I will be relatively brief, but I do need some clarification on one of the two of these issues, because I found the evidence given on the analysis of cumulative effects a little bit difficult in the light of that reading of the report itself, the STANTEC report.
     Could I just take you to the section where you talk about the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency and the criteria you've used there.  This is section 8, spot 3 on page 47.
     MR. WESENGER:  I have that in front of me, Mr. Manning, thank you.
     MR. MANNING:  Generally, with cumulative impact assessments on pipeline applications, you would consider the definitions and the considerations in that statute to be the closest parallel and appropriate for adoption in these cases, as a general issue?
     MR. WESENGER:  With regard to pipeline projects in Ontario, I believe that as stated in this document, the best practices are reflected in the Ontario Energy Board guidelines for cumulative effects assessment.  The reference to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency is reference to, I guess, a model or a framework that sets out the approach taken.
     MR. MANNING:  Right.  So in interpreting the guideline, you looked to that framework as being a proper framework for the interpretation and application --
     MR. WESENGER:  Certainly we referred to that, as noted in my report, we referred to those definitions from the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency.
     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  I’m just flipping backwards and forwards because I don't want to cover ground that's been properly explored, but I am having some difficulty in understanding the explanation that you've just given us about the way in which section 8.3.3.2 has been prepared.
     It seems to be part of an analysis.  It seems, to my reading anyway, that you've made a judgment call.  You've taken in the information from all sources, and then you've made a judgment call as to what is significant, moderately significant, not significant at all.  And -– but when you first prepared the report, I would suggest that you had made a judgment call, and that may have been informed, in part, by public consultation but that you reached a professional view.  And if you hadn't, you would have said so or you would have just left the matter to the other section you referenced.  Matters were mentioned in public consultation.
     Could you clarify that to us?
     MR. WESENGER:  I'm not following your question, other than you're seeking clarification, I believe, on what I discussed with Ms. Lea on the incorporation of what is in 8.3.3.2 on page 52, but I'm not -- perhaps if you could -- restate your question.
     MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed.  Simply this.  In preparing that section, did you reach a professional view as to what to include there as matters of moderate significance?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  Judgment, professional judgment is included in my assessment of those facts, yes.
     MR. MANNING:  So we can say, therefore, that it wasn't purely a restatement of matters mentioned to you in the public consultation?
     MR. WESENGER:  As I indicated in the first comment or line in this table, issues derived from public consultation and project team expertise.  There is a combination of those things.
     Certainly my judgment was it was relevant to include that those comments were made at the open house and to bring them in -- forward.
     MR. MANNING:  Forgive me then, I've still not made myself clear, because you're not saying here:  We're including the fact that comments were made.  You're saying here, these are matters of moderate significance.  And you've just said, as I understood it, that you did make a professional judgment in preparing that section, and -- which is fine.  It's what I would expect.  It's how it reads.
     My difficulty I suppose is understanding why it should be any less than that now.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I understand your question.  It's correct, yes, we did assess those as moderately significant.  People communicated to them.  They were concerned about them.  It was a significant concern to them, economically, the number of jobs lost, just ...     

MR. MANNING:  And I'm sorry to keep belabouring this point but I need to understand this.  You took in that information and you didn't presumably just take it at face value, but you applied either some research and enquiry, or you made a judgment call based on your existing knowledge of policy framework on energy in Ontario and matters like that.  Is that what happened?
     MR. WESENGER:  It was a judgment call.  Yes.
     MR. MANNING:  So when you just said, in response to Board Counsel's questions, this was primarily -- then you went back to say absolutely just a restatement of what was said to you in the public consultation, that's not entirely correct.
     It was that, plus your own judgment call, based on your knowledge, but presumably without further investigation or enquiry; is that stated correctly?
     MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.  When I was talking with Ms. Lea, we weren't connecting it to the sense of the judgment connecting it to moderate significance.


It was simply, Why did it appear in this section of the report, is what I was explaining to Ms. Lea.  Perhaps I didn't ‑‑


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  It was that that I was seeking clarification on, because it was coming over to me, anyway, that it was, in some sense, an error, and it was just a restatement of what you had been told.  But thank you for clarifying that.


And I've just understood from you that apart from making a judgment call based on general knowledge, you didn't undertake further research or enquiry on those issues or other matters related to it; is that right?


MR. WESENGER:  That's right.  I did not undertake further research on that matter.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  I think that Ms. Lea has probably covered most of the other issues that I was going to cover.  Would you bear with me, please, Mr. Chair, while I just check my materials?


So far as the report is concerned, I have nothing more.  Mr. Lokan, I know, has one or two questions.


I just need to ask whether this is the panel I should be asking the questions that arose in connection with the GEC about the total amount of gas and proportions of gas, and things like that, or if that is a different panel?  Next one?  Thank you.


That ends my questions.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.

Mr. Lokan.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. LOKAN:

MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  If I can just understand a bit more about your reference to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, I understand that that is the federal agency set up under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act; is that correct?


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.


MR. LOKAN:  And the federal Canadian Environmental Assessment Act includes in it, in section 16, a reference to cumulative effects.  Are you aware of that?


MR. WESENGER:  I am aware of ‑‑ I'm not sure if it is section 16.  I will trust you on that.  Yes, there is a section.


MR. LOKAN:  It's in the federal legislation.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MR. LOKAN:  You would agree that the federal agency is a leader of best practices in the area of cumulative effects; is that fair?


MR. WESENGER:  That is fair.


MR. LOKAN:  Now, cumulative effects are not just socioeconomic affects, are they?  They also include biophysical effects?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, they do.


MR. LOKAN:  Indeed, in the guidelines, the OEB's own guideline, there is a reference in 4.3.13 to how cumulative effects may include both biophysical and socioeconomic effects.  Are you familiar with that reference?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I am.


MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  If I could turn you to page 45, please?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I have that.


MR. LOKAN:  And you talk about methodology.  You say that, under 8.1:

"Cumulative effects of the proposed pipeline in combination with the existing environment and the effects of unrelated projects that may be implemented in future, cumulative effects include temporal and spatial accumulations of change that occur within an area or system due to past, present and future activities."  


That is, I take it, a general definition that you used in this section of the report?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MR. LOKAN:  So when you found later in the report that there were moderate cumulative effects in certain areas, that was the definition you were applying?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, it would be.  Yes, along with the analysis.


MR. LOKAN:  Sure.  And there is nowhere in chapter 8 where you say, Look, we're addressing these matters because they were raised by members of the public, but we don't really consider them to be within the scope of a cumulative effects assessment?  You can't point me to anywhere in the document where it says that?


MR. WESENGER:  Specifically, no, not that, but as I explained to Ms. Lea earlier ‑‑


MR. LOKAN:  I heard your explanation.  I also heard you asked by counsel for Union Gas -- you were invited to give any corrections to the report that may have been necessary, and you didn't give any corrections at that time.


MR. WESENGER:  No, I did not.


MR. LOKAN:  So you stand by the report?


MR. WESENGER:  I stand by the report and the evidence given before the Board.


MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Now, if I can ask you to look at page 46, in the last paragraph you suggest that:

"Although rare an occurrence, it is plausible that accidental or emergency events may arise due to an unforeseen chain of events during the pipeline's operational life."  


Do you see that reference?


MR. WESENGER:  I see that reference.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.


MR. WESENGER:  I also -‑ it goes on to state that because of the rarity and magnitude of such events, that they were not assessed in the cumulative effects assessment.


MR. LOKAN:  I take it that this would include matters such as a leak from the gas pipe?


MR. WESENGER:  Of course.


MR. LOKAN:  A leak due perhaps to corrosion or to authorized or unauthorized activity causing a breach in the pipeline, these things happen; correct?


MR. WESENGER:  I don't think it is unreasonable to assume that.  I'm under the assumption that information from Union Gas -- that the pipeline is designed to operate safely and all precautions are taken to avoid such an unforeseen circumstance.


MR. LOKAN:  But they do happen?  In your experience they do happen; correct?


MR. WESENGER:  I'm aware that they do happen, yes.  It's not my area of -- you know, of expertise.


MR. LOKAN:  I'm just a little surprised by the justification that because they're rare, you haven't taken them into account in the assessment.


Perhaps you can assist me.  Is there any authority in the OEB's guidelines for ruling out a foreseeable effect because it is rare?


MR. WESENGER:  The Canadian Environmental Assessment Act itself, as well, indicates that there are exemptions under emergency circumstances, as well, where you wouldn't have to undertake a cumulative effects assessment.  That certainly ties into this case, as well.  We referred to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency.  We've discussed that already.


MR. LOKAN:  So could you give me a reference to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act where it says you wouldn't need to consider a possible breach of a pipeline in a pipeline assessment?


MR. WESENGER:  Specifically those words, no.  I believe the words are "emergency" in the Act, subject to check.


MR. LOKAN:  The federal agency deals with pipelines, for example, oil pipelines, proposals in the Northwest Territories.  Are you aware of that?


MR. WESENGER:  Under application to the National Energy Board, if there are federal triggers, the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency would be involved, yes.


MR. LOKAN:  Are you aware of any case, for example, dealing with an oil pipeline where the possibility of a rupture or oil spill has been ruled out, not necessary to look at in an environmental assessment?


MR. WESENGER:  I haven't worked on any projects such as that in the Northwest Territories that was assessed.


MR. LOKAN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 52, you've characterized, under the effects -- cumulative effects of moderate significance, in terms of -- if I can start with the methodology, I understand that you looked at three dates in assessing cumulative effects?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MR. LOKAN:  And I think it was 2005, 2006 and 2011?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  2011 and beyond for 50 years, yes.


MR. LOKAN:  So this is under your 2011-and-beyond scenario.


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct, yes.


MR. LOKAN:  Again, this fits in with a cumulative effects analysis.  This is not just reporting some public concerns that were expressed, do you agree?


MR. WESENGER:  I would agree that the attendees to the open house communicated that was a significant effect to them.  They were going to lose jobs.


MR. LOKAN:  That's not what I asked you to agree to.


You would agree that here you have, under moderate cumulative -- effects of moderate significance under a specific scenario, the year 2011, you have characterized these, in your professional judgment, as events of moderate significance.  Do you agree?


MR. WESENGER:  I agree.


MR. LOKAN:  On the socioeconomic side, you said the effect of closure of Lambton generating station should be offset somewhat by employment opportunities and business spin-offs, offered by the operation of the GEC.
     Did you make any attempt to quantify that in your assessment?
     MR. WESENGER:  No, not specifically.  We did not have a number from GEC.  Qualitatively, I understood it was around 30 jobs.
     MR. LOKAN:  You understand there's about 30 jobs being created at the GEC if it goes ahead.  Are you aware it is about 400 jobs lost at Lambton if it's closed?
     MR. WESENGER:  I am aware that was communicated to me throughout public open house, from the attendees.
     MR. LOKAN:  Did you consider, in your socioeconomic effects the costs to the Ontario economy of the higher energy prices that would result from the substitution of GEC for Lambton?
     MR. WESENGER:  No.
     MR. LOKAN:  We heard evidence yesterday that gas-fired generation is more expensive than coal-fired.
     Is that something within your knowledge?
     MR. WESENGER:  No, it's not something I could speak to.
     MR. LOKAN:  Now, you make an assertion here that the GEC will provide an additional power generation source utilizing a cleaner fuel source.
     I take it you didn't do any comparative studies of coal technology, including clean coal technology versus natural gas technology?
     MR. WESENGER:  No.
     MR. LOKAN:  I take it also you didn't consider the particulate matter affects of the GEC?
     MR. WESENGER:  No.
     MR. LOKAN:  You didn't go into any of the specifics.  You just, if I can characterize it this way, took it on faith, that natural gas is a cleaner source?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Thank you, those are my questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Lokan.
     MR. SCULLY:  No questions.
     MR. VLAHOS:  No questions.  Okay.  

Ms. Newland.
     MS. NEWLAND:  No questions, sir.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Land?
     MS. LAND:  Yes, I do have some questions and I'm wondering what the Board would like to do, just to give you an estimate of the amount of time I will need.  I believe I will need 15 to 20 minutes so I'm not sure if you want me to proceed now or if you would like to break for lunch.
     MR. VLAHOS:  We have to break at 12:30, at the latest.  So it does give you 20 minutes, Ms. Land.
     MS. LAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Before we begin, Ms. Land, how much -- Mr. Moran, how much cross will you have when we come back?
     MR. MORAN:  I expect I have about 10 or 15 minutes, Mr. Chair, at the most.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Would you prefer to go now?  Or are you going to wait for Ms. Land.
     MR. MORAN:  I'm fine to go now, if Ms. Land wants to go after lunch, that would be fine.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Ms. Land would you mind, because Mr. Moran has to leave the premises for a little while, so we want to make sure he gets an opportunity to ask his questions.
     MS. LAND:  That would be fine.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Moran:
     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Wesenger, I just want to follow up on your evidence that there is no material environmental impact difference between the GEC proposal and the Union proposal.
     I wonder if you could turn up page 9 of the prefiled evidence, in the facilities application that Union filed, please.
     MR. WESENGER:  Page 9.  Yes, I have that.
     MR. MORAN:  Maybe I could just ask the panel as a whole:  Who is responsible for the evidence that we see under the heading "Other Public Interest Considerations"?
     Maybe just to speed it up again.  Let me ask the question, then the person who feels best equipped to answer it can volunteer.
     With respect to what we see in paragraph 37(a) under the heading of “Reduced Air Emissions”, there's a discussion about natural gas because of its cleaner burning properties compared to other fossil fuels have an increasingly important role to play in reducing the environmental impacts of energy usage.
     It's fair to say that in the context of the natural gas that's going through your pipeline versus the natural gas that's going through Greenfield's pipeline, the effect is essentially the same; right?
     MR. MALLETTE:  Mr. Moran, perhaps I could point out that the witness panel page that was handed out indicates that paragraph 37 actually belongs to Laura Callingham who was on the previous panel.  However, I believe we can try to answer to the best of our ability.
     MR. MORAN:  I suppose it wouldn't be the first time an economist wants to speak about everything.
     All right.  But in the context of the attributes of the natural gas that's going through the pipeline, it's fair to say that that’s the same regardless of whose pipeline it is.  Maybe, Mr. Wesenger, you could answer that.  

MR. WESENGER:  I think that is fair to say.
     MR. MORAN:  Now, there would be one minor difference, of course, depending okay whose pipeline it is.  If it's Union's pipeline, you would have -- you would have odourized the gas; correct?  
     MR. MALLETTE:  Our application indicates that we have included costs to odourize the gas.  However that would be -- whether or not the gas would actually be odourized is subject to further discussions with GEC.  

As a matter of fact, I believe there was testimony provided by GEC a couple of days ago where it was indicated that the, the requirement for odourization has not been fully resolved yet.
     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you.  And with respect to the utility taxes, GEC, like Union, also pays taxes presumably; right?
     MR. MALLETTE:  I'm beginning to get out of our area of expertise, but I would think that would be reasonable to assume.
     MR. MORAN:  So the impact is the same either way.  With respect to employment flowing from the construction, the advantage -- there's no advantage between the two proposals.  Both will generate construction employment; correct?
     MR. MALLETTE:  That would seem reasonable.
     MR. MORAN:  One last question, and I guess perhaps this is best put to you, Mr. Mallette.
     Could you please indicate what technical discussions you've had with anybody, any representative of Greenfield, regarding the pipeline.
     MR. MALLETTE:  I have not been personally involved in any discussions with Greenfield on a technical nature.  The other panels that will be up later may be able to answer, if they've brought any technical discussions into the discussions, negotiations that have already occurred, but I am not aware of any.
     MR. MORAN:  When I said "technical," I guess I was focussing more on the construction side of things rather than perhaps negotiations about rates.
     Are you aware of any discussions that Union Gas has had with respect to construction, location, metering, all of that, with anybody at Greenfield?
     MR. MALLETTE:  I'm not aware of any discussions that have occurred.  The designs that we've proposed are based on standard requirements for other similar facilities in the Union Gas franchise.
     MR. MORAN:  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  

Ms. Land.
     MS. LAND:  Mr. Chairman, I believe that my questions might take us beyond 12:30.  Did you wish me to commence now or ...     

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, could you please, and we will break precisely at 12:30.
     MS. LAND:  Okay.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LAND:
     MS. LAND:  I will start with Mr. Wesenger.

Mr. Wesenger, in response to some of the questions from Ms. Lea, you agreed with Ms. Lea that your environmental assessment report was incorrect in its presumption that no Aboriginal land claims existed in the proposed area for the pipeline; is that correct?


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.


MS. LAND:  So would it be fair, then, to say that in your environmental assessment report's consideration of the socio‑economic impacts of the project, that you did not consider the socio‑economic impacts of the project on Walpole Island First Nation?


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.  If we were aware of the lower reserve land claims specifically, we would have included an explanation of those claims and their status and their significance in appendix B1, the environmental economic inventory of the environmental assessment.


MS. LAND:  Right.  And presumably you would have looked at whether there were other socio-economic impacts, as well.  You would have looked at the full scope of what the socio‑economics might be even beyond those considerations; correct?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  We would have included -‑ if we had have included Walpole Island First Nation, they would have brought forward the terrestrial ecological knowledge study that I was aware of from a previous project I was involved with the Millennium West project and involved in that study with them specifically, so ...

     MS. LAND:  Would it also be fair to say that in your environmental assessment report, then, when you compare the potential impacts of the various possible routes for the pipeline, that you did not compare how those various route possibilities could have different kinds of impacts on the land claims interests of Walpole Island First Nation?


MR. WESENGER:  That's correct.  We did not do that assessment.  


Looking at it now, in hindsight, I can comment that I don't think the land claims themselves would have had a specific influence on the selection of the preferred route.  They would have ‑- it would have been valuable to look, at the time, at the traditional ecological knowledge study.


I have done that since this time, and it appears, from my review, that there are no impacts on the traditional use of lands.  One of the wood lots that we are adjacent to is utilized for some hunting and berry picking, those types of activities, by First Nations.


Where I feel it would have been most valuable to include the information regarding the land claims would have been in the mitigation section of the report for perhaps future involvement of First Nations, perhaps development of a memorandum of understanding.


I was also involved in the Vector pipeline project that was before the National Energy Board, and that project, we met with Walpole Island First Nation and we were involved in hiring an environmental inspector to assist us during the directional drill of the St. Clair River during that project.


So those types of things, I don't think it is too late to advance those, and I believe that will be the responsibility, now, of Mr. Wesley and Mr. Schmidt to work with Walpole Island First Nation.  The environmental assessment indicates it's an ongoing process for public consultation.


MS. LAND:  Thank you.  And one of the impacts that Walpole Island First Nation would be concerned about with respect to its lower reserve claim are the possible differences that different routes might have on how they could be compensated for unsold lands in their formal lower reserve territory. 


So when you compared the potential impacts of the various routes, you would not have been looking at how, for instance, a route along a road allowance could have a different impact for Walpole Island First Nation in terms of its ability to be compensated for its land claims compared to a route, for instance, along agricultural lands; would that be fair to say?


MR. WESENGER:  That's fair to say.  Specifically on all projects, I don't consider financial matters when it comes to compensating a landowner or a township as influencing the route selection process in any way, no.


MR. WESLEY:  If I could, with your indulgence, Ms. Land, I think it is important to note that Union has put in place a payment in lieu of taxes program, such that if Walpole was given ownerships of those lands, we have an automatic program that would compensate them for that, similar to what we do with municipalities.


MS. LAND:  Thank you, Mr. Wesley.  I would like to just pick up on some of the comments that you made, Mr. Wesenger, and it might in fact be Mr. Wesley who is most able to answer this series of questions with respect to generally how Union Gas deals with First Nations' issues when they have projects.


Mr. Wesenger has given examples of some of the other projects that Union Gas has had in the area where they have involved Walpole Island First Nations in discussions about environmental issues and other concerns of the First Nations.


So just to clarify for the record, you have had projects in the past in that same area where Union Gas has dealt with Walpole Island First Nations' concerns about the impacts of those projects on Walpole Island's land claims interests or Aboriginal rights interests; is that correct?


MR. WESENGER:  Just a point of clarification.  The Vector project that I referred to, I don't believe that Union was the proponent of that.


MS. LAND:  Yes, I am aware of that.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MS. LAND:  But you have had other Union Gas projects specifically where you have dealt with Walpole Island First Nations' concerns about impacts on their interests; correct?


MR. WESLEY:  It may be that I could address that question.  I think first, to start off, that Union Gas is very proud of our Aboriginal relations program.  We certainly receive provincial and national recognition for that.  I guess a good example would be the Millennium project which was referred to by the Chief yesterday.


That was a project that one of the proponents was Westcoast Energy.  At that time, Westcoast Energy was actually the owner of Union Gas, and it was myself and Union Gas who were the lead contact with Walpole Island First Nation on that project.  And we provided funding for a traditional ecological knowledge study, as well as for some independent reviews of that project.  


In addition, we were in the process of working on an MOU with them on that project, and we found it very beneficial to do so.


MS. LAND:  Thank you, Mr. Wesley.  One of the documents that we referred to in evidence yesterday was a document of the National Energy Board.  It's a policy document.  I'm not sure if you have that document available to you.


MR. WESLEY:  Yes, I do.


MS. LAND:  I would like to just pick up on that document and ask you a couple of questions related to it.


It might be Mr. Wesley who most able to address these questions.  Just to clarify, then, Mr. Wesley, and confirm for the record, Union Gas has had projects before the National Energy Board where there have been First Nations' interests that have been one of the matters that the Board has been looking at; is that correct?


MR. WESLEY:  Yes.  My expertise is more Ontario-based as opposed to National Energy Board‑based.


MS. LAND:  And are you aware of the fact, Mr. Wesley, that the National Energy Board has a process in place to address concerns that First Nations have where proposed projects could impact on their land claims or Aboriginal rights interests?


MR. WESLEY:  Yes, I am.


MS. LAND:  And are you aware of whether Union Gas has participated in any projects where that has been the case, where they have an application before the National Energy Board and there are First Nations land claims interests that are a concern?


MR. WESLEY:  Once again, my expertise is more Ontario‑based and I haven't been involved in any National Energy Board projects, per se, with the exception of projects such as Millennium and other local Ontario‑based projects.


MS. LAND:  So you may or may not be able to answer my next question.


Attached to that National Energy Board policy document dated August the 3rd - that's Exhibit 3.1 for the record - there is an information sheet.  It's entitled "Information to be filed with applications where there may be an Aboriginal interest".


Are you aware of whether Union Gas has ever gone through a process of completing such an information form in a situation where there are Aboriginal land claims that could be impacted by a project being considered by the Energy Board, National Energy Board?


MR. WESLEY:  I have not personally been involved in any of the projects before the National Energy Board, but what we have done as a company, because we're aware of these consultation guidelines, is that we, to the extent possible, have adopted those with our projects within Ontario and tried to abide by those in most other examples.


MS. LAND:  Mr. Wesley, would you agree it would be helpful to proponents, such as Union Gas, if the Ontario Energy Board had in place a policy which clarified the expectations of proponents where there might be duty to consult Aboriginal communities because of impacts on claims?


MR. WESLEY:  I think it would be helpful because, as I've indicated, Union Gas, in looking at the NEB guidelines, we have tried, to the extent possible, in past projects and historically, to abide by those regulations and comments in that document.  And I would see that this would really be something that would just formalize what we try to do already in projects of that nature.


MS. LAND:  I have just one final question.  Could you clarify for the record, gentlemen, whether or not Union Gas has reached any agreement with Walpole Island First Nations about how Union Gas would deal with the potential impacts of this project on Walpole's land claims?


MR. WESLEY:  There are none that I am aware.  We're having ongoing discussions.


MS. LAND:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Land.  I saw Mr. Brown left the room.  I don't know whether he has any questions for this panel.  In any event, we have to break.


MS. LEA:  My understanding is that Mr. Brown has questions for panels 3 and 4.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  So we will have to break, in any event, and we will return at 2:30.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:30 p.m.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  I believe we went through all of the intervenors that wished to 

cross-examine.  If not, anybody raise their hand.  Okay.
     So that's the Board now.  We do have some questions, and I would like to start off.
     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Wesenger, this is not a 

cross-examination by any means, it is simply considered discussion.
     You have practiced in your field for some time now, and I would like your input on certain things that are in my mind and the panel's mind as well.  I will start it off and my colleagues can jump in any time, or at the end, okay?
     MR. WESENGER:  Certainly, yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have a copy of the guidelines, sir?
     MR. WESENGER:  I do.
     MR. VLAHOS:  You do.  I'm trying to see how I can fit some of evidence we heard so far, that's been filed and some of the cross-examination, and perhaps the arguments to come, it's going to be a high-level discussion, so bear with me.  I probably won't take you to any of your evidence that you filed but don't feel bad about that, it is meant to be high level.
     MR. WESENGER:  All right.
     MR. VLAHOS:  The very first page of the guidelines, it says, “Environmental guidelines for the location, construction and operation of hydrocarbon pipelines facilities of Ontario.”  What do you take, interpret by way of "operation"?  How do you apply that in your studies?
     MR. WESENGER:  My interpretation of the term "operation" would be related to, in respect to these guidelines, the maintenance of the pipeline facilities.
     MR. VLAHOS:  By "maintenance" meaning going forward, or meaning during construction or ...     

MR. WESENGER:  Going forward.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Going forward?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  Going forward.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Is it part of this monitoring report that you --
     MR. WESENGER:  The example I'm thinking of would be perhaps an excavation for integrity where there is disturbance of environmental features, perhaps vegetation, perhaps some intrusion on a water course, more biophysical or socioeconomic impacts related to the construction activity related to maintenance during the operation of the pipeline. 
     MR. VLAHOS:  Your recommendations would focus on things that would have to be done today in order that it is a smooth and safe operation, things that have to be done today.  “Today” meaning during construction?
     MR. WESENGER:  During construction.  And I'm struggling with the interpretation of "today" because --
     MR. VLAHOS:  “Today” meaning during the construction phase.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  And that construction could apply to construction, meaning installation of the pipeline or construction activities related to maintenance of the pipeline.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And if you go over to the introduction part, it is clear -- and from the title of the report as well, of the guideline -- that we're talking about the location, construction and operation of the pipelines.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So at a very high level, your job is, you're hired by an applicant to say, Look, we want to build this pipeline and here's some possible routes, can you take a look at that, and you do so.
     MR. WESENGER:  Primarily, yes.  They typically give me a starting and end point, then it is my job to come up with routes, environmentally-acceptable routes and evaluate and compare those and recommend a environmentally-preferred route for the pipeline to the proponent.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So it is quite clear from the title as well as from the introduction part, from your read of the report - I'm sure you know it inside out - it is only dealing with the pipeline, the pipelines, the routing of the pipelines.
     MR. WESENGER:  That is my interpretation.
     MR. VLAHOS:  What is the least offensive way of building something from point A to point B?
     MR. WESENGER:  Correct.  That has the least environmental impact.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And then the guidelines talk about, this is the chapter 3 -- so far we talked about chapter 2 that is the selection process of the pipeline, the selection of the route of the pipeline.
     Then it goes on about the consultation, and it talks about the importance of identifying who is going to be affected and how you consult, et cetera.  That's where Walpole Island's issue would come in; isn't that right?
     MR. WESENGER:  Correct.  That's where we were remiss in identifying them at the appropriate time, in the process.  It should have been at the initiation of the environmental assessment.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That's not to say all of the issues of Walpole Island.  They have some land claim issues that belong somewhere else that’s not within your area of study.
     MR. WESENGER:  That's correct, yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Now, let me go to chapter 4, then.  Chapter 4 is under the general header of "Route and site selection," chapter 4.  Okay?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  You're asked under the guidelines to undertake a social impact analysis, a study.
     MR. WARREN:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  That's always in conjunction, with what, some biophysical assessment.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  We look at natural environmental features, the biophysical as well as socioeconomic characteristics of the study area.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So the socioeconomic, at least under the rubric of this chapter, is the social impacts only as they're linked related to the biophysical?
     MR. WESENGER:  That's what the guidelines read.  Yes, that's my understanding.  I don't know where the specific reference is within the guidelines, but I recall reading that earlier this week.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I can cite an example here.  It says: 

“For example, the biophysical assessment may reveal that the removal of a certain number of hectares of vegetation is insignificant from an environmental point of view, while the SIA - that's the social impact assessment - may reveal that this removal would cause major disruption to the community.”    

     MR. WESENGER:  Yes, yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Moving on to the so-called cumulative effects, that's section 4.3.13.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Now, I read that as being still under -- it's under 4, so it is still under --
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes. 

MR. VLAHOS:  That's your understanding.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes, it is.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So again it has to do with biophysical and socioeconomic effects; correct?
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes, yes.  
     MR. VLAHOS:  So in your view -- you've been here for the last few days so you have read the transcript.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  I've been here since Monday.  I've listened to most of it, but my interest has wavered at times so ...     
     MR. VLAHOS:  I will not comment on that.  

Is your take that the issues that are being brought forward to the Board in terms of cumulative effects by what you heard so far fit within this section or somewhere else?
     MR. WESENGER:  Could you give me -- just to help me to respond appropriately --
     MR. VLAHOS:  What about the socioeconomic impacts that may come up in argument that you have to look at the employment situation, for example, the job displacement, that kind of thing.  Would that fit in here?
     MR. WESENGER:  With regard to how it's been presented by the intervenors, I believe the -- it doesn't belong before -- what the Board guidelines do ask and seek for.
     I think the proper place where that should be assessed is in the assessment itself of the Greenfield Energy Centre, which is under the Environmental Assessment Act, specifically regulation 116 where they look at the added impacts of air emissions from the station.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And I have no idea about those environmental guidelines in that study, and I'm just focussing on the pipeline construction.
     There is nothing -- that evidence, in your view, we cannot fit that under 4.3.13.
     MR. WESENGER:  No, I don't believe we can.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Because it goes on to give some examples or effects that all relate to the construction, as I read them on page 38.
     MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  You're talking about the four points at the bottom of page 38.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.
     MR. WESENGER:  E to H, and they all refer specifically to pipeline construction, and my interpretation is to limit the cumulative effects to pipeline construction when the assessment is complete.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And that's been reinforced on page 39, where ‑‑ right before the, I guess, five points now, where it says:

"The following is a list that encompasses some of the cumulative effects of pipeline construction."


And it talks about construction --


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  -- throughout those points.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, it does.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So you have followed those guidelines in your report?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes, I have.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Have you done anything in addition to those things that are contained in the guidelines?


MR. WESENGER:  That are beyond the scope of the guidelines?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.


MR. WESENGER:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  You have not?


MR. WESENGER:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  As I said, it was pretty high level, so my colleague will jump in to straighten it out.


MS. CHAPLIN:  No.  I actually will ask you to turn to your report, Mr. Wesenger.


Given some of the explanations you've given during cross‑examination and also in answer to questions from Mr. Vlahos, could you turn to page 47, is the one that I'm looking at?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  In case your pagination is different, it's 8.3.


MR. WESENGER:  I have the page in front of me, yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So right at the top there, you say:  

"Chapter 6 of this EA report considered potential impacts of construction and operation of the pipeline on specific features ..."


And it continues on.  But would I be correct, just in terms of clarifying it, that when you look at cumulative effects, although there is this reference in this first line to construction and operation, that's not the approach you took to the cumulative effects; would that be correct?


MR. WESENGER:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You refer to construction and operation of the pipeline.


MR. WESENGER:  Correct, and "operation" being, as I had explained to Mr. Chairman, that it is in terms of maintenance activities.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then just -- Mr. Vlahos was asking you about whether or not, for example, air emissions was, in your interpretation, beyond the scope of the Board's cumulative effect analysis.  And you, I believe, agreed to that.


You did then mention that it is appropriately part of the EA for the station itself.  Could you provide us with just a little bit further explanation of how the EA looks at air emissions and why you think that would be the appropriate venue for that to be assessed?


MR. WESENGER:  I am not familiar with ‑‑ I've seen the EA.  I am not familiar ‑‑ I didn't work on that project.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm not meaning this project specifically.  I am meaning in the general application.  Why would it be that air emissions should be appropriately dealt with there?


MR. WESENGER:  Because specifically under the guideline for completing electricity projects, it does seek out the combined effects of air emissions upon the air shed, is my understanding under that document and under those regulations, and that is before the Ministry of Environment to consider that, the effects of that.


I don't think that matter is, my understanding, before this Board, and my interpretation of the guidelines don't seek out what are the effects of consuming that fuel.  And it's difficult of where do you draw the line or the scope for the cumulative effects assessment.  I think it was cross‑examination by Ms. Lea where I referred to, at the other end of the spectrum, the source of the gas.  We don't assess that either.


So I think the guidelines are appropriate to limit it to pipeline construction between the end points of the project and not consider the consumption or burning of that gas.  Is that helpful?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, thanks.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on that and on the same vein, Mr. Wesenger, in your report ‑ and I don't have a physical one in front of me here, but just going from memory here ‑ on the comments you made this morning of the appropriateness of including the comments from the public consultation into the report and actually grading them as to the effect, would that be typically done if you're considering it out of scope?


I'm just questioning why you would go to the extra step of putting them as moderate impact on something that you, by virtue of what you're just commenting on, would consider to be out of scope of this project?


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  And I think that's a fair statement, and the association of the moderate impact, I think perhaps just the significance of job loss ‑‑ I mean, one job loss to a family can be a very significant socio‑economic impact.  And that's where the significance is weighted, the judgment, to determine that as moderate.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I was more thinking of actually questioning going through that exercise, I suppose, of even going through the exercise of grading it.  I'm not questioning the grading of it or the importance placed on it.  I'm just thinking that it is confusing to bring things that are considered out of scope by virtue of your definition or understanding of the guide on cumulative effects, to bring it back into play by giving it a grade in relation to the project.


MR. WESENGER:  Yes.  I think more appropriately it would be -- should have been left perhaps alone in public consultation as the type of comments and remarks that were heard, rather than assessing the impact as we did.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, thanks.  That's all I have.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, those are the Board's questions.  Any re-direct?


MR. CAMERON:  I have no redirect.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  No?  Thank you.  This panel is excused, with our thanks.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cameron, when you're ready.


MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, this is Union's third panel to deal with commercial and operational issues.  It's I think on the witness panel responsibility list described as dealing with Union's intervenor evidence, but we don't draw a waterproof line between the Union evidence prefiled on its own application and its intervenor evidence in the GEC application, so the witnesses are available to answer questions on both areas.


Closest to you is Mr. David Simpson, and beside him Mr. David Dent, and beside him, Mr. Mark Kitchen, and I would ask that the witnesses be sworn, please.


UNION GAS LIMITED PANEL 3:

David Simpson; Sworn


David Lawrence Dent; Sworn


Mark Kitchen; Affirmed
EXAMINATION BY Mr. Cameron:
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chair, David Simpson is the director of acquisitions at Union Gas and is responsible for supply, planning, upstream transportation and gas supply acquisition.
     Mr. Simpson, do you have with you the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union filed in this proceeding?     

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt them as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. SIMPSON:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions you would like to make to the evidence or the interrogatories?
     MR. SIMPSON:  No, I do not.
     MR. CAMERON:  David Dent is the strategic manager, retail energy marketers and power markets at Union Gas.  He is responsible for sales and marketing in the retail energy and power generation market segments.
     Mr. Dent, do you have the evidence and interrogatory responses that Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. DINGWALL:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your areas of responsibility, do you adopt them as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions you would like to make to that evidence or those interrogatories?
     MR. DENT:  No, I do not.  
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mark Kitchen is the manager of rates and pricing at Union Gas.  He is responsible for the design and implementation of Union's in-franchise and ex-franchise rate proposals.
     Mr. Kitchen, do you have the evidence and interrogatory responses Union has filed in this proceeding?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  So far as they pertain to your area of responsibility, do you adopt them as your evidence in this proceeding?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I do.
     MR. CAMERON:  Do you have any corrections or additions you would like to make to the evidence or the responses to interrogatories?
     MR. KITCHEN:  No, I do not.
     MR. CAMERON:  Mr. Chairman, each of these witnesses will speak to the commercial and operational issues that are raised by the evidence that was filed by GEC in these proceedings and, in particular, they will speak to the intervenor evidence that Union filed in the GEC application pertaining to the gas acquisition issues facing GEC and the accuracy of the GEC evidence on the comparative operational and commercial factors that will be in play, depending on whether GEC is directly connected to the Vector line, or connected to Union's system.
     However, given the answers that were given by Mr. Rosenkranz in response to questions yesterday primarily from the panel, it could be – well, I will certainly have substantially less direct examination of these witnesses and it could be there will be less cross-examination given the diminishing importance of the cost differential evidence in the GEC prefiled evidence.  These witnesses can also speak to the impact on the Union system if GEC and other system users are permitted to receive gas directly from the Vector line.
     Finally, these witnesses will also speak to the updated evidence filed last week by Union on developments and discussions with GEC and the option of serving the GEC facility with T1 interruptible service.
     I have a few items of direct evidence, Mr. Chairman, to deal with with each of these witnesses.  

Perhaps I could begin with you Mr. Simpson, and ask you to recollect the evidence that you heard yesterday from Mr. Rosenkranz with respect to the status of Union Gas as the operator of the Union hub and as the operator of the Vector pipeline in Canada.
     Could you explain the role that Union plays in each capacity for the board.
     MR. SIMPSON:  Certainly, thank you.  I would offer that the characterization with respect to Dawn is accurate.  I think it was more the context with respect to Vector that we wish to clarify.
     Union does not operate Vector pipelines.  It is a Vector pipeline, not a Union pipeline.
     Union Gas does have a maintenance agreement with Vector for the Canadian portion of the Vector pipeline, and our responsibilities in this capacity are really more in line with things like cathodic protection and pipeline inspections.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mr. Dent, perhaps I could move on to you and ask you to begin by reading, if you would, the opening statement that this panel has to update the evidence on the discussions of with GEC.
     MR. DENT:  On September 30th, 2005, Union Gas filed its intervenor evidence in response to the Greenfield Energy Centre Limited Partnership application seeking leave-to-construct a NPS 16-inch high-pressure steel natural gas pipeline.
     In its evidence, Union stated that the cost to serve the GEC plant using the T1 firm transportation service was $7.35 million at a 40 percent load factor.
     And then in parenthesis, that is noted in schedule 2 in Union's intervenor evidence.
     Discussion with GEC up to that point focussed solely on firm transportation service.  As Union stated in its evidence, firm T1 transportation service is not the only available option to serve the needs of a power plant similar to the GEC facility.
     The T1 interruptible transportation rate paid by any customers is negotiated within a range approved by the Board.  The current approved maximum charge for interruptible service is 2.5923 cents per cubic metre.  There is no minimum charge.
     As noted on the rate schedule, factors that impact the negotiated T1 interruptible transportation rate should include the following:
     Part A, the amount of interruptible transportation for which the customer is willing to contract; B, the anticipated load factor for the interruptible transportation quantities; C, interruptible or curtailment provisions; and D, competition.
     Applying these factors, lower volume and low 

load-factor customers could expect to pay a higher rate whereas customers that consume high volumes of gas at a higher load factor could expect to pay a lower rate.
     Given Union's more recent understanding the GEC may be willing to consider an interruptible service as opposed to the firm service, Union did recently discuss with GEC a T1 interruptible transportation service.  Interruptible T1 transportation service would, in Union's view, allow GEC to operate its facilities in a manner similar to that outlined in GEC's proposal to construct their own interconnect to Vector.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  

Mr. Dent, you will have also heard in evidence yesterday Mr. Rosenkranz's comments on the issue as to whether or not it was mandatory for T1 customer, either by virtue of the tariff or by practical effect, to subscribe for storage at the same time that it subscribed for T1 transportation.
     Could you clarify both the tariff issue and the practical issue, as it pertains to T1 transportation and storage?
     MR. DENT:  Certainly.  I heard Mr. Rosenkranz.  And with respect to the T1 service itself, a customer may elect to contract for transportation and not contract for storage.  Conversely, if the customer wanted storage, they would need to contract for transportation.
     So it's an either/or type thing.  You can have transportation without storage.  You cannot have storage without transportation.
     From a practical point of view, most customers would, when they contract for transportation, would also contract for a portion of storage.  They may not necessarily elect the full amount that they're allocated, but most will elect to close to that maximum amount.
     From a practical point of view, because it's a 

cost-based storage, a customer would generally want to acquire that storage.
     However, it certainly is at the customer's option whether they contract for storage along with transportation.  There may be other avenues where the customer can contract for other balancing services without contracting for Union storage.  That might include contracting for Michigan storage, for example, or having a marketer do that work for them.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  And again on a related topic and a topic discussed at about the same time by Mr. Rosenkranz, he mentioned that he didn't consider no‑notice service to be a practical effect of T1 service without storage.  Could you discuss that?


MR. DENT:  Well, certainly T1 is a no-notice consumption service.  The customer is not required to nominate the consumption of ‑‑ yes, that's correct.  The customer is not required to nominate the consumption to the facility.  So from that point of view, Union takes care of that.


Again, from a practical matter, what would occur is that the customer nominates their delivery to the Union system, and then the customer burns their load at their plant.  If that nomination is, for example, 100 units and the customer burns 90 units, then in the T1 service no‑notice, that ten units will fall into storage.


Conversely, if he burns ten more units than he delivers, then with no‑notice that molecule comes out of ‑‑ ten molecules comes out of storage and goes to the customer plant.  So, again, there is a no‑notice aspect to it, and again storage helps complete the picture there.


MR. CAMERON:  There was a discussion also yesterday about whether the T1 tariff, just to borrow a phrase from the Chair, might, in the view of GEC, need modernization.  I was wondering if you could discuss what Union does to keep its T1 tariff current.


MR. DENT:  Certainly.  I would contend that the T1 service is a modern service.  It's the right service for power generation ‑‑ generators, not to mention other large industrial customers.


Union goes to great lengths to consult with customers and to ensure that we're not missing the boat on any aspects of service.  As recently as last August, we had a customer meeting.  As a result of that customer meeting, the minutes of that meeting showed that the customers there indicated that overall the T1 service works well.


Certainly I've had individual feedback from customers who, again, indicate to me that they're very pleased with that T1 service.


As well, and probably virtually as we speak, Union is assisting Enbridge to help them to develop a similar-type service so that they can better serve the potential power generators that they expect to be locating in their distribution system in the near future.  So there is a link between what Union is doing service‑wise and how we're assisting Enbridge to accomplish the same goal.


Then, finally, I would say to you that in Union's south area, we have five power generators that are generating 1,400 megawatts of power, and they're all using the T1 service.


So those elements suggest to me that indeed the T1 service is the right service for this time.  It's a modern, up‑to‑date service.  It certainly provides value to our customers.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Mr. Dent.  I'm going to come back to you on one other issue, but while we're on this topic, perhaps I could ask Mr. Kitchen, who is responsible for rate design, if you could describe the most recent development, in terms of the T1 rate design and the interaction with this Board on that issue?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I can.  In the RP-2003-0063 decision, the Board directed Union to see if there was any basis for establishing a rate class specific to merchant generators, based on their load profile and based on the principles of rate design that have been approved by the Board.


We filed that response to directive in July of 2004 and we filed it also in our intervenor evidence.  The outcome of that analysis was that based on the load profile of merchant generators, there was no basis for establishing a new rate class.  In fact, we found that the T1 rate class was appropriate.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, what's the status of that?  You filed that with the Board and ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  We filed it with the Board in July of 2003.  We filed it in this proceeding.  There was never a procedural order issued on that evidence.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, Mr. Kitchen, you have to help me a bit more.  It was filed in 2003 under -- was it a rates case?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  The Board directed us, in the 2004 rate proceeding, to file the response to the directive by August 1st.  That was in the decision, and that's what we did.


MR. VLAHOS:  By August 1st of?


MR. KITCHEN:  2004.


MR. VLAHOS:  2004?


MR. KITCHEN:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  So you filed that, and what was your expectation when you filed it?


MR. KITCHEN:  Our expectation was that there would have been a proceeding around that.  There was no proceeding.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So there was no proceeding for 2005 rates?


MR. KITCHEN:  Right.  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  And there won't be one for 2006 that would encompass this kind of issue?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CAMERON:  And as Mr. Kitchen mentioned, the document appears as an appendix to our evidence in this proceeding, just for the information of parties as to what's happened in that regard.


If I could move back to Mr. Dent and ask -- you and panel members and parties might want to find, in their materials, the chart that we had reference to in the cross‑examination of the GEC panel.  It's Exhibit 3.2.  It's the ‑‑ I forget what we ended up calling it, but it is the Union‑generated chart that we expanded from the GEC‑generated response to Board Staff IR No. 5.


Mr. Chairman, I put this to the GEC witnesses yesterday merely out of procedural fairness so that they could -- before they were off the stand, they could have their say about what they felt about its accuracy and inaccuracy and relevance.  Its primary purpose was to be an article of Union Gas evidence.


Mr. Dent, I was wondering if you, as the author of this table, could describe what it's meant to illustrate and why you think the information in the various either new or revised cells of the chart are accurate.


MR. DENT:  Certainly.  There are really several things that I want to focus on.  The key reason for updating the chart is to take a look at the bottom line, the services reliability.


Before I go there, though, I do want to comment on a couple of ‑- the two boxes that we did change under the Union Gas T1 firm section, and then just briefly walk down the Union Gas T1 interruptible boxes, as well.


Under the third column titled "Union Gas T1 Firm", we did change two boxes.  The box "bundled storage requirement", changed that from a "yes" to a "no".  As I just explained, under the T1 service, you can contract for transportation; do not have to contract for storage.  So those can be two separate elements of the T1 service.  The storage doesn't necessarily have to come with the transportation.


Secondly, we also ‑‑ at least I also changed -- under "direct access to Michigan storage and balancing", changed that from a "no" to a "yes".  Certainly the storage fields, "no", "no", "international boundaries", "Dawn-Michigan storage", really one geographical formation tied together with a variety of different pipes, and, from my perspective sitting in Chatham, there is direct access to the Michigan storage fields when you're at Dawn.  So a customer would have both. 

In fact, I have customers on the retail marketing side who would have some storage at Dawn as well as storage in Michigan.
     So I just made those two corrections just, again, to share that, my perspective here was -- would have been different had I been assisting my friend, Mr. Rosenkranz.
     Then just to walk down the Union Gas T1 interruptible boxes.  Access to hub, again like T1 firm, T1 interruptible also has access to the hub.
     Under annual fixed costs for deliveries from Dawn, simply put a range rate in there, because as I read in the opening statement, the interruptible T1 service is a range rate.  There is a negotiated range that that rate can end up to be.
     I will say, however, though, whether there's annual fixed costs or not associated with the interruptible T1 service really depends on the amount of interruptible service that a customer contracts for.
     In the situation we're discussing, the discussion we had with GEC, with a zero percent firm, 100 percent interruptible service, then there will be an annual cost involved.  But when I think of our other typical power customers who may have a firm interruptible split, that firm portion would generally be equivalent to what an annual minimum revenue might work out to be.
     So there's several different ways to get a minimum annual revenue to cover the project costs.
     I would agree with my friend, Mr. Rosenkranz, that fuel, because of the high gas prices for a range of volumes of $1 million to $2 million is certainly in the ballpark.  As I said previously, Union Gas T1 is a no-notice service, and again there is no bundled storage requirement as well.  And similarly with T1 firm, there is direct access to the Michigan storage and Michigan balancing, and of course it is a negotiated rate.
     The element with respect to service reliability, I wanted to compare what the reliability would be for each of the four elements, and we've chosen to call the GEC proposal as the base proposal.
     We agree that the pipeline to TCPL would be similar, if the connection was made to the TCPL pipe.
     With respect to reliability of the Union Gas firm T1 service, my contention would be that the firm T1 has the highest reliabilities.  Firm volumes are only interrupted in the rare case of force majeure, and I certainly can't recall a time and others with longer institutional memory than I, cannot remember a time in history, in Union's history, where firm volumes have been interrupted.
     Union Gas T1's service is also a reliable service, a highly reliable service.  It is, though, as the name implies, subject to curtailment.
     In addition, if an interruption does occur, Union will work with its customers to allow them to continue to run their plant by delivering incremental supply to a point specified by Union.
     So if a customer delivered gas to Union at the Vector interconnect, I can see no reason why the plant could not continue to operate.
     Certainly the west side of Dawn is different than the east side of Dawn.  I couldn't make that same statement east of Dawn, because there could be transportation constraints that could not be overcome by incremental delivery of gas supply.
     But west of Dawn, in the Sarnia industrial marketplace, if there was a curtailment, we could -- and a customer could have one of two choices.  It could either curtail their operations, or they could bring in incremental supply equivalent to their consumption and Union would work with them and they would continue to operate their plant.
     So in my view, the interruptible Union T1 is at least as reliable as the GEC proposal.  Given the fact that Union has an integrated system supporting it, with multiple supply connections rather than a single source pipe, I might, in my heart of hearts, believe that it's more reliable, but for the purposes of comparison, I suggested that it is equivalent here to the base, which is the GEC proposal.
     MR. CAMERON:  Now, Mr. Dent, this was discussed by Mr. Rosenkranz in the context of his analysis of the recent discussions that Union and GEC have been having.  And perhaps you could describe your perspective on how this chart describes those discussions.
     MR. DENT:  Sure.  One of the reasons I put the chart together was to try to lay out the fact that this, in the last discussions that we had with GEC, surrounding an interruptible service, that in fact the construct of that

-- of those discussions and that proposal really replicates a service that's of equivalent reliability to the GEC proposal itself.
     So as you probably see from the interrogatories, et cetera, we had trouble with the firm proposal.  So we put on our thinking caps and certainly, in conjunction with discussions with GEC, came up with an idea that included that 100 percent transportation service.
     As part of that, GEC has the option to deliver gas to Union at either the Vector interconnect or at Dawn itself, but with the Vector interconnect as the primary point, that is, that's where GEC would like to deliver the bulk of the gas and in fact that is where they said in their evidence that they would, indeed, drop off gas.  Not necessarily at the Vector interconnect but at their tie-in to the Vector pipeline itself.
     Each delivery point, that is a Vector interconnect and Dawn itself, would have its own rate and those rates would be similar to rates paid by other like-power merchants, so there is a comparability with the peer group.
     In addition, that offer included a minimum annual revenue amount, as I said earlier, and again that minimum annual revenue amount is to ensure fairness with Union's other large merchant power customers.
     Those other large merchant customers may be paying that minimum annual revenue at a different way, but again for fairness and equitability, we have -- we included a minimum annual revenue in the GEC proposal.  So again there is some alignment with other similar customers.
     The concept of a backstop, as described by Mr. Rosenkranz yesterday, at Dawn recognized two realities.  First there is the reality, as GEC has openly shared in their evidence and in their discussions, is that they will not be able to perfectly match their consumption with deliveries at the Vector interconnect because of the vagrancies of the power market, it will be very difficult to exactly match deliveries with consumption.  
     So Dawn and Dawn storage, as secondary points, if you like, provide that support to that type of a mismatch.
     Secondly, the idea of a mismatch was proposed because there is a real possibility, at least in Union's mind, that there may be occasions when GEC could not source gas at the Vector interconnect, and we certainly stated that in our evidence, and continue to believe that.
     Consequently, Dawn, for us, was a back-up for the entire contract, a prudent back-up for the entire contract that would help mitigate that possibility.
     So the offer, again, as Mr. Rosenkranz outlined it yesterday, included a minimum annual revenue that I would concur with him in the multi-million dollar range; it had a Vector interconnect interruptible rate; and a second Dawn interruptible revenue rate; and as closely as we could, it was Union's desire to replicate the GEC proposal as they defined it in their evidence.
     MR. CAMERON:  Thank you, Mr. Dent.  Yesterday you heard Mr. Rosenkranz mention some concerns about the service characteristics associated with this proposal.
     In your discussions with GEC as to GEC's rejection of this proposal, was any concern ever expressed by GEC as to service characteristics?
     MR. DENT:  No.  With respect to service characteristics, I think that over the 12 or so months that we had discussions, we had fairly comprehensive discussions about service characteristics.  To the point that once in a while Mr. Rosenkranz would ask us not to include the T1 sermon in our discussions with him.  There was a clear open discussion of what the service requirements were.
     I would certainly describe the theme and conclusions of those last discussions and propose that we had with GEC in a slightly different manner that Mr. Rosenkranz.


He did infer that there was some confusion on Calpine's part or on GEC's part with respect to the service offerings, and this contributed to a lack of agreement.


I would characterize the conclusion of those discussions as primarily focussed on two issues.  The first issue was GEC's concern about price, price of the overall service, including the minimum annual revenues and the price of the rates themselves.


Then the second issue that was raised by GEC was Union's unwillingness to waive or compensate GEC for a portion of the compressor fuel that would be allocated to GEC for their deliveries at the Vector interconnect.


So I suppose, in other words, I believe that Union approached the discussions from a principled postage stamp perspective while GEC approached the discussions from an incremental tolling perspective, and at the end of the day there was no meeting of the minds based on those two different perspectives.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, that concludes the direct evidence of this panel.  It is available for cross‑examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cameron.  Ms. Lea?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.

Gentlemen, I had a couple of questions that I tried to ask panel 1 and they bounced them to you, so I'll begin with those.  These relate to the rates that Union Gas's customers currently pay and how they might be affected by a decision of this Board.


First of all, I would like to confirm with you, as I did with the first panel, I think, that the revenues that Union would attain, were they to serve GEC, that those revenues have not been included in the calculation of Union's current rates, the rates that are currently in effect?


MR. DENT:  That would be correct.


MS. LEA:  And when we look at the response you gave to Aiken & Associates' Interrogatory No. 2, which is tab 1, Interrogatory No. 2, first of all, in your answer to question 2(a) you give an estimate of an impact on general service customers of a reduction of $2.65 million in allocated costs.


Now, if in fact your suggestion that GEC use the T1 interruptible rate were adopted, can you give us at least a ballpark estimate of what that figure would be and what the -- what the revenues would be and what the figure would be of a reduction to Union's ratepayers?


MR. KITCHEN:  Let me try that one.  I can't give you actually even a ballpark, because the analysis that was performed to prepare the schedule assumed the firm service would be taken by GEC.


I don't know what the interruptible impact would be.  I know it would be less for the M2 residential customer or the M2 general service class, but I can't give you an actual number.  I would be guessing and I would rather not do that.


MS. LEA:  You can tell me that directionally the reduction would be less, but you cannot, for instance, say that it would be half, three-quarters, one-quarter?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, I can't.  The reason it will be less is that IT customers are not allocated a full allocation of distribution -- or, sorry, of transmission demand‑related costs, so the shifting will be less.  I'm just not sure by how much.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Now, in this interrogatory, when we look at the interrogatory answer itself and the attachment, it appears that the interrogatory assumes that almost all of the revenues of the project are passed through to in‑franchise customers; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Union will only earn its regulated return on the asset, so to the extent there is an over-contribution, that contribution flows to other rate classes.


MS. LEA:  I was wondering about your earnings sharing mechanism that is in effect right now.


Do you have a 50‑50 earnings-sharing mechanism for over-earnings at present?


MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of the 2005?


MS. LEA:  The rates that are in effect now.


MR. KITCHEN:  There is a rate-sharing mechanism in effect, yes.


MS. LEA:  So part of over-earnings, if you over-earn in a given year, then part of those over-earnings go to the shareholder and part to the ratepayer; is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct, yes.


MS. LEA:  So the -- it would depend on whether you over-earned or not what percentage of the revenue gained from the -- serving this customer would flow to ratepayers; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think I need to clarify something. 


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  The GEC plant won't be taking service until, I believe, 2008; is that correct?  2007 -- late 2007 or 2008.  So it's not going to be subject to any earnings sharing through 2005 or 2006.


MS. LEA:  No, I understand that, sir.  I guess I was making the assumption that an earnings-sharing mechanism might continue.  Perhaps that was the assumption that I failed to give you.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure that an earnings‑sharing mechanism will continue beyond 2007.  My assumption is it would be moving into an incentive regulation regime at some point.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  One moment.


I just wanted to look at the T1 rate tariff, the T1 rate schedule for a moment, please.  Is the firm T1 rate negotiable?


MR. KITCHEN:  The rate schedules currently contain a provision that Union can, without prior Board approval, negotiate firm rates at discount to the tolls.  That is not something that we are proposing here.  In fact, it is not something that we would propose to do for GEC.


MS. LEA:  Do you do it for others?


MR. KITCHEN:  We have in one case given a discount to the firm toll.  It wasn't to the T1 rate, though.  It was to a bundled M7 customer that was at a much higher load factor than the rest of the class, such that giving the discount really recognized the fact that they were at a higher load factor and not causing Union to incur the same level of costs.


MS. LEA:  But that is not the case for GEC in comparison with the rest of members of the class that would be paying T1 rates?


MR. KITCHEN:  I guess the difference would be that GEC, because the T1 rate schedule ‑‑ under the T1 rate schedule, you contract separately for storage and transportation.  There are no load-balancing savings, no storage savings as you would have in a bundled class, which is where the discount was provided.


MR. VLAHOS:  If it's negotiated -- sorry, Ms. Lea.  If it's negotiated, does it have to come to the Board, Mr. Kitchen, or Union has the authority to offer that rate?


MR. KITCHEN:  In the PBR decision, we were granted the authority to negotiate the rate, and that's when that discount was given.


We were required to report to the Board through the customer review process, to the extent there were discounts, and we did that in the 2003 customer review process, at that time, and we continue to believe this is a transitional state for this customer and it will be moving to T1, at which time there won't be any discount.


MS. LEA:  The reason I ask you these questions is that when I look at the schedule - which, if people want to turn it up, appears in the pre-filed evidence of GEC, Exhibit B, tab 9 - under C, rates, the second sentence says:  

"The identified rates represent maximum prices for service.  These rates may change periodically.  Multi‑year prices may also be negotiated which may be higher or lower than the identified rates."


The statement that this is the maximum price for the service might encourage the reader to suggest that they can negotiate something lower, even, for T1 firm.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  And I would like to comment on that, if I could.


When we proposed this wording be added to the rate schedule in, I think it was RP-1999‑0017, we were under the assumption or we assumed that once we entered into a PBR, we would be in that regulatory framework forever and that we wouldn't have re-basing of ‑‑ or cost of service regulation any longer.


To the extent that we now are in a regime where we expect to have cost of service regulation, we can't actually conceive of a situation where we would provide a discount, such as what GEC would require to produce an incremental toll, without actually coming to the Board for approval.


MS. LEA:  So the time that you did negotiate a lower rate for T1 firm service, that was for a bundled service only?


MR. KITCHEN:  We've never negotiated a rate for T1 service.  It was an M7 bundled service.


MS. LEA:  M7.  Pardon me.  Yes, I understand.


MR. KITCHEN:  Right.


MS. LEA:  Now, you indicated in your opening statement that you understand that an interruptible rate might be more suitable or might be suitable for GEC.  And these rates are negotiable; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Now, GEC indicated in its evidence, it's oral evidence, that firm transportation service is very important as the CES contract has a 20-year term and they need to have some certainty about receiving gas without interruption.  

How, in your view, could a large power generator, with this length of contract and this need for firm service, rely on interruptible services?
     MR. DENT:  Well, there are two elements here.  First, with respect to the GEC proposal itself, it may be called a firm service, but in Union's view, it is not a firm service.
     So it may be characterized that way, but Union does not believe that it is as firm as what their evidence suggests.
     But secondly, I would also draw your attention to the interruptible service that Union provides and we can provide and has provided west of Dawn, that we can really replicate what GEC's proposal themselves have suggested, as I indicated earlier.  We provided an interruptible service.  They deliver gas to us at the Vector interconnect.  And if they deliver that gas to the level of their plant consumption, that Union cannot think of a time where we would interrupt them, as long as GEC delivered that gas to the Vector interconnect.
     That's because of the system itself west of Dawn in the Sarnia industrial market, if there is an interruption that is called, it can be encountered or overcome by a customer delivering incremental gas to Union.
     So as long as GEC delivered to the Vector interconnect, even if there was an interruption, Union could consider -- could continue to serve that customer.
     MS. LEA:  And can you think of circumstances, Mr. Dent, where you would interrupt deliveries to a customer like GEC that is west of Dawn?
     MR. DENT:  I cannot -- I can think of a circumstance where there might be an interruption west of Dawn, but that interruption would probably be in the terms of lack of deliverability for the entire system.  And even in that case, as long as the customer delivered their incremental supply to Union Gas at the Vector interconnect or at Dawn, for that matter, Union could still continue to serve all industrial customers who were T1 interruptible west of Dawn.  The only circumstance that I could uncover, where an interruption might occur would be a situation where we had to do plant maintenance between the Vector interconnect and the GEC facility itself, and those plant maintenance can be done in a time where it's agreeable with the plant to have that work done.  And in actual fact, that would replicate the problem that GEC would have themselves in building their own line off Vector; they would have that maintenance difficulty as well.
     MS. LEA:  If I'm a customer interested in T1 interruptible service, then, am I buying a different quality of product depending on where I'm located, whether I'm east or west of Dawn?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  There certainly is a difference from the tightness of the system east of Dawn to west of Dawn.  East of Dawn there can be the transportation bottleneck at peak times with the Dawn-Trafalgar system.
     West of Dawn, that transportation bottleneck does not exist.  So indeed, I think an interruptible customer west of Dawn is in a different situation than if they were east of Dawn.
     MS. LEA:  And do you recognize that difference in your prices?
     MR. DENT:  Well, the T1 interruptible rate is a negotiated rate, and we take all factors into consideration.  The key one to us being the desire and the willingness to -- pardon me, to recognize what other like customers are paying and to ensure that any interruptible contract that's negotiated falls within that range of the peer -- of where the peer customers are, so that even though it is a negotiated rate, we can ensure that there is a modicum of fairness to all customers.
     MS. LEA:  I would like to discuss with you the question about what is included or the flexibility that’s available if I'm purchasing T1 service.
     Now, I think that we've heard that a customer can purchase T1 firm transportation without storage; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MS. LEA:  At least according to the rate schedule.  Now, how many of your current T1 customers have bought just transportation with no storage?
     MR. DENT:  To my knowledge, none.
     MS. LEA:  And is that because if is, in fact, impractical to do so?
     MR. DENT:  No.  I think there's two issues.  The primary issue is that cost-based storage is so much cheaper that market-based storage that you’d have to be probably off your rocker not to take the storage that is allocated to you.  
     So that's the primary driver.
     MS. LEA:  However, storage is a competitive service, isn't it?  I mean I have other options besides buying Union's storage.
     MR. DENT:  Yes, that's correct.  You do have other options other than buying Union's storage.  In fact, even with the Union T1 service itself, you do not have to take all of the storage that is allocated to you at cost base.
     If you're allocated 100 units but you think you can get along fine with just 50, then you can choose just to contract for the 50 so there is some flexibility involved in the choice as well.
     MS. LEA:  In your view, then, it is the advantage of the lower cost of cost-based storage which drives the choice of customers to purchase storage when they purchase transportation?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  The cost-based storage advantage is a significant one.  If, from a hypothetical point of view, there was a time where market-based storage was less expensive than cost-based storage, then I could see customers decontracting their cost-based storage and finding "cheaper market-based storage" to help them meet their needs.
     But certainly from the point of view of how the T service is designed to work, that storage element, whether it is market-based or cost-based is an important aspect of the entire flexibility of the total service.
     MS. LEA:  For what period of time has cost-based storage from Union been cheaper than the alternative?
     MR. DENT:  Well, in my experience at Union, certainly gas supply going back to 1997, there certainly may be short periods where short-term storage might have been less expensive than cost-based.  But over the long run, 

cost-based storage is virtually always cheaper than 

market-based storage.
     MS. LEA:  If I, for whatever reason, decided that I wanted to source my storage from elsewhere other than Union, would I also need to purchase some other transportation for that stored gas?
     MR. DENT:  Well, if you purchase that storage at Dawn, you may not need to purchase other transportation, but you may need to -- may need to either yourself or hire a service provider to help nominate that gas into the storage.
     Again, one of the flexibilities and the advantages of the T1 service is there is no need to nominate gas in and out of storage.  The service being a no-notice consumption at the plant, service will automatically take care of that for you.
     But if you did choose to contract for, say, storage services outside of the T1 service and you undertook to do that yourself, you could certainly do that.
     MS. LEA:  I think you would agree, though, and I think you have agreed already, that on a practical basis it is unlikely that a customer would seek to purchase just transportation under T1 from Union given the way that the rate offers, within that bundle, cost-based storage.
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I would certainly agree with that.
     MS. LEA:  One moment, please.

Sorry, I'm looking at various pieces of paper, because I had set aside some questions for panel 4 and now I'm bringing them back into panel 3, so just give me a moment, please.


I would like to ask you a few questions about the gas supply issues here.  In your intervenor evidence, pages 47 to 48, you've indicated that there were 43 days since Vector's operation began, during which the physical volume flowing to Dawn on Vector was less than GEC's requirements, and the requirements assumed there was 208,000 gigajoules per day.


What was the reason for that, for those 43 days where there wasn't enough gas; can you tell me?


MR. SIMPSON:  Is your question:  What is the reason Vector was operating at those low levels?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Do you know or can you help us with that?  Was it scheduled maintenance on the pipeline?  Was there a restriction on Union's receipt capacity?  What was driving this?


MR. SIMPSON:  I actually can't answer that question.  I did look into how many days there were, but I didn't put on your qualifier as to what might have caused it.


MS. LEA:  Was it some restriction of Union's receipt capacity that drove this?


MR. SIMPSON:  No, not that I am aware of.


MS. LEA:  But you don't know?


MR. SIMPSON:  No.  I stick by my answer.  I don't know.  I think the intent of establishing whether there were days less than the volume that would be consumed by the plant was relevant to what the plant might have in terms of accessible services.


MS. LEA:  A point of confusion, at least for me, has been an understanding of physical east-to-west flow from Dawn to Vector.


Now, I gather that there is currently no flow in that direction from Dawn to Vector, but I think we heard this morning, from your witness, that this physical east-to-west flow from Dawn to Vector is operationally available or possible.


I do not understand what the situation is with respect to this.


MR. SIMPSON:  I will certainly try to clarify and provide some context in detail.


The issue that was spoke of earlier today, operationally, I believe, was really getting to the fact that, yes, Vector has installed bi-directional metering at that -- the interconnection to Dawn.  So while it is possible that gas could flow east to west, there's a few facts.


Firstly, it never has, other than I believe when it was tested when the line was first installed, but since operation, if you will, there has not been physical gas back hauled.


And in the context of the application at hand, it's really that fact that I guess puts us in a bit of uncharted territory relative to GEC's desire and submission to use back haul service.


MS. LEA:  Is it not the case that they're just talking about what I would describe as a notional back haul, a commercial arrangement?


MR. SIMPSON:  I don't believe so.  I believe what they've outlined in evidence is that there's several services, in their mind, that they could use.  The one that you referred to as a "notional back haul", I will try to further describe that, just so, again, that is in context.


That would be the case if volumes were flowing west to east by a party, a marketer, for example, that did have physical capacity on Vector and was flowing their molecules en route to Dawn.


What they would do ‑‑

     MS. LEA:  Is drop some off at GEC's pipe?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  Potentially drop some off at GEC's pipe, and then, again, presumably GEC would replace these molecules.  That is one scenario.


The other scenario is physical back haul, and of course it has been listed as a portion of the services that GEC would use on a firm basis to meet their firm demands.


MS. LEA:  And as I understand your evidence, there is nothing physically to prevent this, but you have never seen it happen?


MR. SIMPSON:  It actually goes significantly further than it's just never happened.


I think the context of back haul ‑ and I'm now referring from east to west ‑ has been presented as a firm service on Vector, and very important to understand the dynamics between connecting points.


In order for a molecule to go from Dawn onto Vector in an east-to-west fashion, it needs effectively to be nominated by a party at Dawn, received by Vector, and then taken westerly.  The connection agreement that exists between Union Gas and Vector to facilitate that type of movement is only available on an interruptible basis.  So it is part of the interconnection agreement between Union and Vector, and that portion is not firm.  So firm service, almost by extrapolation, is not available in a back haul direction.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment.


This is another point I attempted to put to panel 1, and it is this question.  In the evidence - and it was in the intervenor evidence, I believe - it is asserted that GEC's proposal will duplicate Union's facilities as part of ‑- it will duplicate Union's facilities, but in your application you propose to construct a similar pipeline, as far as I can tell, almost the same route.


Could you elaborate on your disagreement with GEC that there is no duplication of Union's facilities, if you're indicating that there is one?


MR. SIMPSON:  I'll be glad to answer that question.  I'm just trying to find a good reference for you, please.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  There's ‑‑ in your evidence, it's page 7, points 15 to 17, but whether that is what you were looking for, I don't know.


MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.  No, I was actually going to turn up tab 5, Interrogatory No. 2, part H.


MS. LEA:  That's GEC's interrogatories, tab 5.  And the number, again?


MR. SIMPSON:  Tab 5, Interrogatory No. 2.


MS. LEA:  Part H, yes.


MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  And it may, in fact, refer to that paragraph, but the intent of that response is to point out that it would duplicate Union's existing Vector interconnection, so not a duplication of the pipeline, per se, but the mere fact that Union already has a Vector interconnection it's implied that it is duplication.


MS. LEA:  Yes, I think that's the answer that the panel this morning gave, as well.


Now, GEC, I think in it's original evidence, referenced the approach that the Board has taken in the transmission system code - that's the electricity transmission code - and the electricity distribution system code with respect to the Board's approach to dealing with customers who want to build their own electricity lines.  And this has been suggested by GEC as a possible model that we could -- that the Board could adopt with regards to its approach to gas pipelines, as well.


Are there any characteristics of those two commodities, any characteristics of electricity versus gas, that are different and that should, therefore, drive a different approach by the Board?


I understand that there is a history that is different.  Are there any physical characteristics of the commodities that are different?
     MR. SIMPSON:  We're kind of comparing notes and I really don't think we're in a position to answer that question.  I'm sorry.
     MS. LEA:  All right.  Would it be another panel that would answer it?  Or is it that I'm not giving you enough information?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I think it's our position, based on our evidence, that we don't have enough information to know if they should be treated similarly; that from our point of view, the transmission system code proceeding effectively codified what had been a long standing practice within the electricity -- long-standing practice within the electricity sector.  It did not reference gas and did not deal with gas and the decision didn't deal with gas.
     Quite frankly, there's been no review of whether or not they should be treated similarly and I don't really have the expertise to do that.
     MS. LEA:  No, I recognize these decisions didn't reference gas and there hasn't been a study of it, but the Board will be asked, I think, to consider the electricity approach here.  I was offering you the opportunity to indicate whether there are any physical differences between these two commodities that should drive a different policy approach by the Board.
     And if you can't answer it or you want to leave it to argument, that's fine.  I just -- I know it's coming up so ...     

MR. KITCHEN:  I really can't say there are physical differences that I can reference off the top of my head.
     MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Kitchen, do you know if the gas utility industry was participating in a working group or were part of the consultative developed in the Transmission System Code?  
     MR. KITCHEN:  I believe that Enbridge and Union did make joint submissions in that proceeding.  I don't know if they -- how they participated but they did make joint submissions.  

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, if I can be of assistance on behalf of Enbridge, I do know that we did make a submission.  I don't believe that Enbridge actually was an active participant in any kind of workshop or proceedings that led up to the time its submissions were due.  If I am advised otherwise, I will advise you tomorrow

MR. DENT:  The utilities are participating in the natural gas/electric interface project.  I know our utility has been working through the OEB staff and their consultant, Fred Hassan.  So there has been participation on the utility side on some of that work.  So there is some work being done with how gas and electricity will and does interface.
     I think part of that will come out through the Natural Gas Forum.  I think a hearing is scheduled for probably sometime in January.  

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  
     MS. LEA:  The difficulty this panel of the Board may face, though, is that through these other policy proceedings, it was indicated that the "bypass" issues, and I will use the “B” word, were to be decided in this forum.
     As a consequence, these are the sorts of questions that the Board must face in attempting to deal with this application.
     Perhaps I can turn, also, to a couple of objectives of the Energy Board Act.  If I should be asking these questions of panel 4, let me know, but I think this is part of your evidence.
     Could you please describe your view of what the impact would be of a decision of this panel of the Board permitting GEC to build on the financial viability of Union?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I think, Ms. Lea, that is probably better left to panel 4, those types of questions around public interest and the impact on Union's financial viability.
     MS. LEA:  They are.  But there's, for instance, in the evidence, there is a statement at page 24 and also you provide us with a schedule 3 to your evidence that indicates the potential annual margin lost to Union and its ratepayers, and the estimate is $29 million.  Which panel should I ask that question to?
     MR. CAMERON:  If I might suggest, I think on the numerical impact or the dollar impact evidence, I believe this panel can speak to that.
     On the broader issue of the financial viability of the utility, et cetera, panel 4 will address that.
     MS. LEA:  Perhaps you could help me then with the schedule 3 and the numerical evidence with respect to financial impact there.
     So if I can be more clear, then.  I'm asking you about the evidence that you make at point 72 at page 24 of your intervenor evidence, which indicates that the potential annual margin lost to Union and its ratepayers is $29 million, should the Board endorse bypass, I think was the phrasing.  Then you list a number of customers in schedule 3 that you indicate are located in close proximity to a major pipeline or to a pipeline.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  Those customers in schedule 3, when you say "close proximity", how do they compare in terms of distance compared to GEC's distance from the Vector pipeline, two kilometres?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know offhand.  They are close enough that we feel that they are a threat for seeking physical bypass or bypass competitive rates.
     MS. LEA:  What was the distance that you presumed would be close enough to be a threat?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. KITCHEN:  I would have to check to see what criteria was used.
     MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide that information.
     The other thing, before we -- I ask the Board if it will accept an undertaking.  The other thing I was wanting to know about these customers listed on schedule 3 is, is there -- the pipeline that they are in close proximity to, is it an international pipeline with the sort of supply options that GEC has with Vector?  Is it TCPL or Vector, basically?  Or what is this pipeline they're close to?
     Do these customers have the same ability to manage their own gas supply and their own load balancing that GEC has demonstrated that it has?
     So that is the kind of analysis that I was hoping you could provide with respect to the customers on schedule 3.  Would you prefer to do that by way of undertaking?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Can I just confer with Mr. Dent for a second?
     MS. LEA:  Certainly, please.  Take the time you need.
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DENT:  Our concern was not to be too – not to, again, to divulge certainly customer information.  But the customers listed are large customers.  They're customers that are close to, in the north, TCPL; in the south, primarily in the Sarnia marketplace.  So they are quite close to transmission opportunities.
     And these customers are generally -- are larger customers, and they're customers who are already demonstrating the ability to manage their own supply.  Certainly the T1 customers themselves are doing that.  But also the rate 20, rate 100 customers, they're showing an expertise either within themselves or through a marketer that they have the ability to manage that type of activity.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I don't want you to reveal any confidential details either.
     I take from that answer, then, it is your evidence that all the customers listed in schedule 3 have the ability to manage their supply and balancing needs.
     MR. DENT:  Oh, yes, that is definitely the case.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Is it also your evidence that all of the customers in schedule 3, when you say that they're in proximity to a pipeline, that that pipeline is either TCPL or in the Sarnia area such that they would have access to Vector or a comparable pipeline?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  It would be a transmission pipeline, absolutely.
     MS. LEA:  Then the only other thing that I was asking for initially was:  What are the distances like?  And perhaps the best way to do that is to give, of the customers listed, the minimum distance, maximum distance and average distance.  Would that be acceptable?
     MR. DENT:  Yes.  That would be acceptable.
     MS. LEA:  All right.  

So, Mr. Chair, can I ask that that be made an undertaking, then?
     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, that will be acceptable.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking 4.1.  U4.1.
     UNDERTAKING NO. U4.1:  TO PROVIDE THE MINIMUM, MAXIMUM

AND MEDIAN DISTANCES FROM THE PIPELINES WITHIN

PROXIMITY
     MS. LEA:  Can you get that information by the end of tomorrow?  Is that doable or ...     

MR. DENT:  I'm pretty sure I can.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Can I clarify one point?  They may have to be estimates in terms of the number of kilometres.  I wouldn't want to think they're exact.
     MS. LEA:  Do your best to give us the minimum, maximum and median, probably, would be best.


MR. DENT:  Sure.  So just to clarify, mid, max and medium -- median.


MS. LEA:  I don't really care whether it is the average or median, as long as you tell me which one it is.


MR. VLAHOS:  We don't want any standard deviations.


MS. LEA:  We'll do without that.  You're getting into areas that I might not understand.


MR. SIMPSON:  Excuse me, I just wanted to follow up, if I could, because there is a point in your question that -- and this may bring out further questions now or later.


MS. LEA:  Sure.


MR. SIMPSON:  You made the comment that GEC has demonstrated they could manage their balancing needs and services.


MS. LEA:  That is their evidence, sir.


MR. SIMPSON:  Okay, thank you.


MS. LEA:  I understand that Union may take the position that GEC has either underestimated the costs or the difficulty of so doing.


MR. SIMPSON:  That was precisely my point.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Have -- the customers that you list in schedule 3, have they expressed a concern about the T1 rate?  Have they expressed some restlessness or an indication that they might move?


MR. DENT:  No.  I can't say there has been any direct discussion saying that they would move to a bypass.


MS. LEA:  They certainly haven't come forward to the Board with an application for a special rate, nor has Union for them?


MR. DENT:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. KITCHEN:  This chart merely lays out the number of customers that we think would do that, if the Board were to approve bypass.


MS. LEA:  Well, I think what the schedule 3 lays out, if I understand your evidence correctly, is those customers who are close to a pipeline and could do that.


MR. KITCHEN:  It is also the customers that we would expect to do that, I think.


MS. LEA:  What is it about their behaviour so far, if they haven't made any application for a special rate and have not complained about the rate according to Mr. Dent, that leads you to believe that they would?  Is it merely opportunity or is it something they've said?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think, and it is our position, that if they have an opportunity to get a lower-cost rate, they will take that opportunity.  


MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.


MR. DENT:  It is also my understanding that IGUA has said that they will look upon this decision as precedent setting and that that if -- that they will follow whichever precedent the Board sets, and that may indeed open ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think I have to object to what amounts to hearsay evidence.  If IGUA has something to say, they are a party in this hearing and can come forward and say it for themselves.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're right, Mr. Moran.  You're right.


MS. LEA:  Sorry if I led the witness down the wrong path.  I was attempting to establish whether or not this list was based on anything other than proximity to a pipeline.  I think I have the answer and we will leave it there.  Thank you.


Again, tell me if this question should go to panel number 4.  If the Board were to grant GEC's application in this case, would there be limitations that the Board could put on its decision or factors that the Board could list that would limit the impact to Union?


This is something I'm sure your counsel may address in argument, but, for example, limiting its applicability to incremental load only, ensuring that it would only grant the ability to build a pipeline if there was no stranding or duplication of assets.


Do you wish to address that question?


MR. KITCHEN:  At a high level, I would say that the Board is able to put whatever limitations on they saw fit.


I think that in terms of what we would see as limitations may be better left to panel 4.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


Is there a concern about the ability of distributors, such as Union, to supply a gas‑fired power generator ‑‑ a generating station, on severe weather days?


For example, if we experience a winter peak day for both Union's residential and institutional customers and the electricity generators, who are also trying to supply, and both need peak supply on that date, would there be a problem with Union actually carrying that out?


This was something raised, I think, in the NGF proceeding, so you may have dealt with it there, as well.


MR. DENT:  No.  Union would have no difficulty serving a power load.  As I said earlier, we've got power generators on the system already.  We've had some heavy weather, I think, 2003/2004.  That winter was particularly difficult and there was no indication that power generators were not able to secure the gas they needed to operate their plant.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Again, tell me if I need to change this discussion to panel number 4.


I wanted to discuss with you for a few moments the question of the design of a new rate that might be more suitable for customers such as GEC.


I heard you indicate that you believe that it's, first, not necessary, and, secondly, that you have already done it once and found that it wasn't an exercise that seemed to yield any benefits.  Have I understood you correctly?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Now, you have heard or read about, in their evidence, GEC's position as to what services they need and what services they don't need from Union; is that right?


MR. DENT:  Yes.  We certainly have seen their evidence.


MR. SIMPSON:  I would just further add, I think there was a point in an IR, or during testimony, they're of the position that they do not need any services from Union Gas.


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's true.  In their testimony, in their oral testimony, I think it became more clear what pieces of the T1 rate were not palatable to GEC.  Would you agree?


I'm thinking of the analogy that I think your counsel put to you in‑chief.  I remember Mr. Rosenkranz saying that his analogy was that the T1 rate was a square peg that was being attempted to fit into a round hole, and Union was attempting to shave off the corners of that square peg to try and make it fit in the round hole.


And I guess the -- what I would like to discuss with you, if you're willing to have this discussion, is, if you were to design a rate, a rate from scratch, never mind what rates you have in existence now - designing a rate from scratch for these types of customers - large loads, high load factor, capability of managing their own supply, in their position, at least, capable of sourcing the services they need from international pipelines, but they wanted transportation service, what would such a rate look like?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think that's what we did do in the response to the directive.  We looked at a merchant generator's load, and looked at it from the point of view:  Is the load that they are taking any different from the loads of any other existing customer from the point of view of load size or load factor?  We did find that they were at times, depending on their load factor, larger than customers.


But in terms of the costs they drive on the system, we found that the only thing that distinguished them from any other T1 customer was their location and whether or not ‑ and this is probably going way too far ‑ whether or not they were allocated demand-related costs


MS. LEA:  Distribution demand-related costs?


MR. KITCHEN:  Demand-related costs.  Part of the Board's directive asked us to look at two different cost‑allocation methodologies, one that would exclude customers served directly off transmission mains like GEC from the allocation of distribution costs, and one that would include customers like GEC in the allocation of demand‑related costs. 


We currently have an outstanding directive with the Board to look at that in the '07 case.


And what we found was that if you looked at the average unit cost -- or the average unit rate, I would say, for those types of customers, the only distinguishing character was location and whether or not you allocated them distribution costs.


Based on that, and based on the fact that we don't design rates on location - we design them based on load profiles, load factor and the types of costs you cause us to incur - we didn't have a reason to come up with a new rate class that we could ‑‑ that we could provide them with a lower rate and not somehow break our principles; that similarly-situated customers would be receiving somehow a higher rate simply because of where they were located.


So I think we have done that in the directive.  It wasn't GEC's load specifically we used, but we used the Brighton Beach power station load that was provided to us by Coral.  It wasn't a load that we made up.  It was a real load and it didn't yield a result that would cause us to design a new rate.
     MS. LEA:  So do I understand that you would agree with the idea that in order to create a rate which would apparently -- I say “apparently” because GEC has never stated they want to be a customer at all -- but to design a rate that would suit a customer such as GEC, it would have to be a locationally-based price rather than a class rate that did not take account of location.
     MR. KITCHEN:  It would incorporate location, distance from -- distance.  It would largely be an incremental toll.
     In which case it would not be consistent with 

postage-stamp rates.  It would provide a benefit to customers based on where they are able to locate their facilities.
     It's not how we have set rates at Union.  It's not how the Board has approved our rates.  So it is difficult for me to accept that now as being something appropriate.
     MS. LEA:  I would agree with you that in the past the Board's decisions have upheld the concept of postage-stamp rates.
     Is it true to state that we still have postage-stamp rates, however, given that we have range rates, negotiable rates as part of Union's options in serving customers?
     MR. KITCHEN:  I would say absolutely it is, because if you look at how we set the price for the negotiated IT rate for T1, for instance, there are four criteria that are used to determine what the price level should be.  And they are size of load, load factor, level of interruption, and competition.  Those are all things that we consider when we set firm rates, firm postage-stamp rates.  

The other thing I would add is that to the extent that we change the interruptible toll, and we do change it from time to time, we do so based on the average rate, the average interruptible rate.
     What that means is like I say, for example, in a 

cost-of-service hearing, we will look at the allocated costs to interruptible rates; we will look at what the impact of that is on the average.  And if the average rate goes up by a penny, all customers' rates go up by a penny irrespective of what the negotiated rate is.  So it is negotiated, but it does change from time to time and the Board approves those changes in the green pages.
     So I would say it is negotiated, but it is negotiated as the same principles as we do our postage stamp rates. The reason we have negotiated rates within T1 is so that we can really meet our customer' needs.  Because the underpinning premise of an interruptible rate is that a customer either -- I guess that a customer has alternatives; they either can burn something else or they can not take service.
     And so the ability to negotiate allows you to meet the needs of customers based on their varying level of flexibility and with respect to the consumption of gas.
     MS. LEA:  One moment, please.
     Just let me check my papers, gentlemen.  I think everything else that I have is for panel 4.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for this panel.  

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  We have 15 minutes to go.  Does anybody want to -- does anybody have a 

cross-examination that may last less than 15 minutes?
     MR. WARREN:  I do, sir.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Warren:
     MR. WARREN:  Panel, I want to deal -- as I understand it, you are the panel to deal with in terms of the numbers of the adverse impact on Union; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Let's deal, if I can -- I want to drill down a little further on your $29 million in your schedule 3.  But before I get to that, am I right first in understanding that if the Board approves GEC's application and it builds its pipeline, there will be no loss of income to Union because Union is not now serving GEC; is that fair?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  If we don't build a pipeline, we won't earn our return.
     MR. WARREN:  May I then understand you're positing three categories of adverse impact.  First category is revenue foregone, revenue that you would have received had you built the pipeline and served Union; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  Are you talking about total revenue or the --
     MR. WARREN:  The revenue you would have received from GEC.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  So that's the first category of loss.  That's an amount of $6 million or ...
     MR. KITCHEN:  At 40 percent load factor I think schedule 2 says 7.5 million in revenue.
     MR. WILTON:  7.5 million.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.
     MR. WARREN:  The second category of loss is the loss posited in schedule 3, which is if existing customers of Union decide to seek either physical bypass or bypass rates, is that the second category of loss or potential adverse impact?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That would be, yes.
     MR. WARREN:  The third category of potential adverse impact, I take it, is the possibility that other customers, whom you now don't know, may either build their own pipelines or seek bypass rates; is that correct?
     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  There is the loss of all future margins.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like to stick with the second category, which is the $29 million.  It might be helpful if we turn up schedule 3 which Ms. Lea was just referring to.
     I want to try and understand, if I can, so you understand where I'm coming from is how precise the analogue is between their circumstance and the circumstance posited by GEC.
     First of all, I take it -- am I correct in understanding that all of the 20 companies that are listed on schedule 3 are existing customers of Union; is that correct?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MR. WARREN:  And GEC, I take it, we can agree is not a customer of Union at the moment; correct?
     MR. DENT:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, do you know whether -- sorry.  And GEC is saying to this Board that it wants to build and operate its own pipeline; correct?
     MR. DENT:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Do we know if any of these 20 customers are either willing or able to build and operate their own pipeline?
     MR. DENT:  I don't have knowledge to that effect. 

MR. WARREN:  And you would agree with me, sir, that in order for it to be a precise analogue to the circumstances of GEC, these customers would have to be willing to build and operate their own pipeline; correct?
     MR. DENT:  That is correct.
     MR. KITCHEN:  Could I just -- sorry.  I just wanted to add one thing.  I don't think -- we're suggesting that these customers will seek similar relief and that will likely be in the form of a bypass competitive rate.  In which case, the Board, in the past has only required them to be credible bypass candidates not to actually apply, necessarily, to build their own pipeline.
     MR. WARREN:  I understand the policy framework that you set out at -- in some considerable detail in your evidence, Mr. Kitchen.  I was just trying to get a sense of how precise an analogue this is.
     I think Mr. Dent just agreed with me, that none of these -- we don't know if any of these customers are willing and able to build their own pipeline; correct, Mr. Dent?
     MR. DENT:  I have no knowledge either way.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, a question which I asked of the panel this morning was:  If the Board turns down the GEC application and grants your application, GEC is in the position, am I correct, that it has two -- it has two options?  It can either negotiate a rate with you folks, or, it cannot operate -- build and operate this plant; is that fair?
     MR. DENT:  Yes, I think that is part of the record.
     MR. WARREN:  And am I correct in understanding the implications of your exchange with Ms. Lea, is that the best deal they're going to get from Union is what you offered them in your recent negotiations, in terms of an interruptible T1 rate; is that fair?


MR. DENT:  We certainly try to put our best foot forward with respect to being fair and equitable to all of our customers.  One of the challenges we have is that two of those large power plants that are already operating in our franchise area are merchant power plants.


There was a recent announcement that they're in negotiations with the government for a CES‑like contract, and for us to put GEC in a rate position or a total cost position that is superior to those other customers would be hard to justify, in my opinion.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Dent, in light of the time constraints, I just want to stick with the focus of the question I have asked.


Ms. Lea said, as I understood Ms. Lea's question, was:  Can you structure the T1 interruptible rate differently than what you did in your discussions with GEC?  And as I understood your answer, it was "no", that what you offered GEC was the structure of rate that you can offer them; is that right?


MR. DENT:  We put our best foot forward with that offer, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  So am I right, then, getting back to my original question, that the Hobson's choice is if they don't get their ‑‑ the authority to build their pipeline, they are back to negotiating with you, and you have given them your bottom line; is that fair?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I think that is fair.


Again, we're open to what the Board says, but, in my opinion, I would have a difficult time looking my other power customers in the eye if I accepted the alternatives that were posed to me by my friends at GEC.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my last cluster of questions is a segue from your ...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. WARREN:  My last cluster of questions is a segue from your last response.  You said, first, in response to a question from your counsel in‑chief - and this is my badly and quickly written note of it, so it may not be quite precise and you will correct me if I'm wrong ‑ is that for each of the customers taking a T1 interruptible rate, and, in particular, as I understood it, for your electricity generation customers, that you have a minimum annual revenue amount that you insist that they give you in order to ensure fairness among those customers.  Have I got that correctly?


MR. DENT:  Well, there is a bit of an annual revenue that we need to have in order to cover the economics of the project.  That may not necessarily always be a minimum annual revenue in terms of an absolute dollar.  It may also be in terms of a customer paying a firm T1 rate for a large portion or a portion of their consumption.


When I think of power generators as a whole, they generally have a split between firm T1 and interruptible T1.


MR. WARREN:  What I was getting at, sir, was that component of your answer to your counsel in which you said that you imposed this or you insisted on this minimum annual revenue amount in order to ensure fairness among your customers.  Do you remember giving that response to him?


MR. DENT:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  Now, can you tell me what regulatory requirement there is that Union be the gate keeper, in effect, for ensuring that there's fairness among a class of customer.  What obligates you to ensure that each of your electricity generators is on roughly the same footing?


MR. DENT:  Well, I think the postage stamp rate regime really obligates us to treat all customers fairly within that regime, and when I think of our power generator customers who have similar-like challenges in marketing their product, if I give one an advantage in the marketplace over another, I really think there is an element of unfairness to that.


MR. WARREN:  But you are the ‑‑ you are, to use my term ‑- I don't mean it in a pejorative sense.  I mean this in a mechanical sense.   You're the gate keeper of assessing how that fairness is derived; is that right?


MR. DENT:  I think that's fair.  I mean, as we ‑‑ yes, that's fair.


MR. WARREN:  Now, as a matter of ‑‑ and this may be a question for the next panel, but I just want to ask it at a practical rate-making level.


If I understood your answer correctly, if an electricity generator wants to seek a competitive advantage vis-à-vis a competitive -- his or her competitors, that they're going to have to find their competitive advantage somewhere other than gas transmission, because you're going to insist that they all be in roughly the same situation.


Have I got that correctly?


MR. DENT:  Well, it's not a matter of what a customer is selling necessarily to the marketplace, but there is an element of fairness that we want to preserve among our customer group.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thanks very much, panel, for your answers.  I appreciate it.


Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

We're going to break now for the day.  Just a reminder.  Tomorrow we're going to be sitting a full day, 9:00 to 4:00, and if we could have some discussion in the morning as to what the parties may think about the argument, oral, written, combination, and then the schedule of such.


I guess I could anticipate or expect we will finish tomorrow, but we may not, so you may want to take that into consideration.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry, what were the hours the Board was available on Monday?


MR. VLAHOS:  On Monday it was until 1 o'clock.


MS. LEA:  Nine to 1:00.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Nine until 1:00.  Also, in your discussions, Mr. Moran and Mr. Cameron, in terms of the ‑‑ both are applicants, so I'm just not sure how it will play, in terms of final reply.  I just don't want to turn my mind to it.  If you gentlemen can do that and advise us, we will take it from there.


MR. CAMERON:  We will do that, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  We are adjourned until tomorrow at 9:00.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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